Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Public Health Theses

School of Public Health

3-16-2010

Maternal Autonomy as a Protective Factor in Child Nutritional Outcome in Tanzania

Hannah Murphy Ross-Suits Georgia State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses Part of the <u>Public Health Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Ross-Suits, Hannah Murphy, "Maternal Autonomy as a Protective Factor in Child Nutritional Outcome in Tanzania." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2010. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses/99

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

Maternal Autonomy as a Protective Factor in Child Nutritional Outcome in Tanzania

By

Hannah Ross-Suits

B.A. Coe College, 2006

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Georgia State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF PUBLIC HEALTH

Atlanta, Georgia

2010

ABSTRACT

Child Malnutrition is a problem in all countries and centers in poorer communities. Biological and socioeconomic factors alike contribute to malnutrition with recent studies focusing on aspects of maternal autonomy as an influencing factor. In this study, maternal autonomy is defined as the independence in her actions and control over resources a mother has within her household and is made up of several factors, including decision-making power, opinion of domestic abuse, and financial independence. Child nutritional outcomes were operationalized using the anthropometric measures height-for-age (HAZ), weight-for-height (WHZ), and weight-for-age (WAZ).

For this study, the 2004-2005 Tanzanian Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) dataset was examined using weighted logistic regression in SPSS version 17. After controlling for sociodemographic covariates, the only maternal autonomy variable which was statistically associated with child nutritional outcome (associated with height-for-age) was if the mother had final say in decisions regarding her own healthcare (OR=0.857, 95% CI=0.749-0.980). Sociodemographic variables which were statistically associated with child nutritional outcome were child age (older children had higher odds ratios for stunting and lower odds ratios for wasting), child gender (being female was a protective factor against stunting and underweight), duration of breastfeeding (intervals longer than 24 months had higher odds ratios for stunting, wasting, and underweight), and family's position in the wealth index (being in the richer and richest quintiles were protective factors against stunting and underweight).

While further research is needed to examine other influencing factors such as sanitation, diet, and disease prevalence, decision-making power regarding a mother's own healthcare is an important factor that may influence her ability to meet the nutritional needs of her children. This implies that public health professionals may want to look into avenues by which maternal autonomy may be enhanced for possible interventions to improve child nutritional status in Tanzania.

APPROVAL

Maternal Autonomy as a Protective Factor in Child Nutritional Outcome in Tanzania

By

Hannah Ross-Suits

Approved:

Frances McCarty, Ph.D., M.Ed. Committee Chair

Karen Gieseker, Ph.D., M.S. Committee Member

Date: March 16, 2010

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to extend my thanks and appreciation to the faculty and staff of Georgia State University's Institute of Public Health. I especially wish to thank my thesis committee chair, Dr. Frances McCarty, for her guidance in data management and statistical modeling/analysis, and my committee member, Dr. Karen Gieseker, for her encouragement and feedback despite living several states away.

I am also grateful for the love, support, and encouragement from my family and friends throughout the pursuit of my MPH degree.

AUTHOR'S STATEMENT

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Georgia State University, I agree that the Library of the University shall make it available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulations governing materials of this type. I agree that permission to quote from, to copy from, or to publish this thesis may be granted by the author or, in his/her absence, by the professor under whose direction it was written, or in his/her absence, by the Associate Dean, College of Health and Human Sciences. Such quoting, copying, or publishing must be solely for scholarly purposes and will not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from or publication of this dissertation which involves potential financial gain will not be allowed without written permission of the author.

Hannah Ross-Suits Signature of the Author

NOTICE TO BORROWERS

All theses deposited in the Georgia State University Library must be used in accordance with the stipulations prescribed by the author in the preceding statement.

The author of this thesis is: Hannah Ross-Suits 3881 Allsborough Dr. Tucker, GA 30084

The Chair of the committee for this thesis is: Frances McCarty, Ph.D., M.Ed. Institute of Public Health Georgia State University P.O. Box 4018 Atlanta, GA 30302-4018

Users of this thesis who not regularly enrolled as students at Georgia State University are required to attest acceptance of the preceding stipulation by signing below. Libraries borrowing this thesis for the use of their patrons are required to see that each user records here the information requested.

NAME OF USER	ADDRESS	DATE	TYPE OF USE (EXAMINATION ONLY FOR COPYING)

CURRICULUM VITAE

Hannah Ross-Suits

3881 Allsborough Dr. Tucker, GA, 30084 hannahrs@gmail.com

June 2009-Present

August 2008-Present

July 2006-July 2008

May 2005-August 2005

May 2004-August 2004

Education

Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA Master of Public Health, Prevention Sciences—May 2010

Coe College, Cedar Rapids, IA Bachelor of Arts, Biology, English—May 2006

Experience

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA	
Epidemiology Assistant	

Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA Graduate Research Assistant

United State Peace Corps, The Gambia, West Africa *Education Volunteer*

Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia *Research Assistant*

Coe College, Cedar Rapids, Iowa *Research Assistant*

Presentations

Maternal Empowerment as an Influencing Factor of Child Nutritional Status in Tanzania: an Examination of 2004 Demographic Health Survey Data

• Results presented at the Georgia Public Health Association 2009 Future Leaders Conference and the 2009 Global Health Symposium at University of Denver

Construction of mutant Streptococcus pyogenes strains using overlapping PCR

• Results presented at the Coe College 2006 Research Symposium and the 2005 Summer Undergraduate Research at Emory Symposium

Characterization of Proteins and cDNA(s) from Phragmatompoma lapidosa and Pectinaria gouldii

♦ Results presented at the Coe College 2005 Student Research Symposium

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS			
LIST OF TABLESxi ABBREVIATIONSxi ABBREVIATIONSxi CHAPTER I Introduction	ACKNOWLE	DGMENTS	iv
LIST OF FIGURESxi ABBREVIATIONSxii CHAPTER I Introduction	LIST OF TAE	BLES	X
ABBREVIATIONS xii CHAPTER I 1 Introduction 1 Background 1 Hypothesis 2 CHAPTER II 2 Review of the Literature 4 Public Health Significance of Malnutrition 4 Measurements of Malnutrition 5 Causes of Malnutrition 6 Biological Determinants of Malnutrition 7 Duration of Breastfeeding. 7 Child Sex 8 Birth Order 8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition 9 Family SES 9 Place of Residence 9 Maternal Education 9 Maternal Enployment 10 Religion 11 Domestic Violence 11 Polygamy. 11 Maternal Status 12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy 13	LIST OF FIG	URES	.xi
CHAPTER I Introduction 1 Background 1 Hypothesis 2 CHAPTER II 2 Review of the Literature 4 Public Health Significance of Malnutrition 4 Measurements of Malnutrition 5 Causes of Malnutrition 6 Biological Determinants of Malnutrition 7 Duration of Breastfeeding 7 Child Sex 8 Birth Order 8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition 9 Family SES 9 Place of Residence 9 Maternal Education 9 Maternal Employment 10 Religion 11 Domestic Violence 11 Polygamy. 11 Maternal Status 12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy. 13	ABBREVIAT	IONS	<i>c</i> ii
Introduction	CULADTED I		
Introduction			1
Background 1 Hypothesis 2 CHAPTER II Review of the Literature. 4 Public Health Significance of Malnutrition 4 Measurements of Malnutrition 5 Causes of Malnutrition 6 Biological Determinants of Malnutrition 7 Duration of Breastfeeding. 7 Child Sex 8 Birth Order 8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition 9 Family SES 9 Place of Residence 9 Maternal Education 9 Maternal Employment 10 Religion 11 Domestic Violence 11 Polygamy 11 Maternal Status 12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy 13	Introdu		L
Hypothesis 2 CHAPTER II Review of the Literature 4 Public Health Significance of Malnutrition 4 Measurements of Malnutrition 5 Causes of Malnutrition 6 Biological Determinants of Malnutrition 7 Duration of Breastfeeding 7 Child Sex 8 Birth Order 8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition 9 Family SES 9 Place of Residence 9 Maternal Education 9 Maternal Employment 10 Religion 11 Domestic Violence 11 Polygamy 11 Maternal Status 12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy 13 Chill Male of Keiner T 14		Background	1
Review of the Literature 4 Public Health Significance of Malnutrition 4 Measurements of Malnutrition 5 Causes of Malnutrition 6 Biological Determinants of Malnutrition 7 Duration of Breastfeeding 7 Child Sex 8 Birth Order 8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition 9 Family SES 9 Place of Residence 9 Maternal Employment 10 Religion 11 Domestic Violence 11 Polygamy 11 Maternal Status 12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy 13	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	Hypothesis	2
Review of the Literature. .4 Public Health Significance of Malnutrition. .4 Measurements of Malnutrition. .5 Causes of Malnutrition. .6 Biological Determinants of Malnutrition. .7 Duration of Breastfeeding. .7 Child Sex. .8 Birth Order. .8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition. .9 Family SES. .9 Place of Residence. .9 Maternal Education. .9 Maternal Employment. .10 Religion. .11 Domestic Violence. .11 Polygamy. .11 Maternal Status. .12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy. .13	CHAPTER II		
Public Health Significance of Malnutrition .4 Measurements of Malnutrition .5 Causes of Malnutrition .6 Biological Determinants of Malnutrition .7 Duration of Breastfeeding .7 Child Sex .8 Birth Order .8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition .9 Family SES .9 Place of Residence .9 Maternal Education .9 Maternal Employment .10 Religion .11 Domestic Violence .11 Maternal Status .12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy .13	Review	v of the Literature	4
Measurements of Malnutrition .5 Causes of Malnutrition .6 Biological Determinants of Malnutrition .7 Duration of Breastfeeding .7 Child Sex .8 Birth Order .8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition .9 Family SES .9 Place of Residence .9 Maternal Education .9 Maternal Employment .10 Religion .11 Domestic Violence .11 Maternal Status .12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy .13		Public Health Significance of Malnutrition	4
Causes of Malnutrition		Measurements of Malnutrition	.5
Biological Determinants of Malnutrition. 7 Duration of Breastfeeding. 7 Child Sex 8 Birth Order. 8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition. 9 Family SES 9 Place of Residence. 9 Maternal Education. 9 Maternal Employment. 10 Religion. 11 Domestic Violence. 11 Maternal Status. 12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy. 13		Causes of Malnutrition	6
Duration of Breastfeeding. 7 Child Sex. 8 Birth Order. 8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition. 9 Family SES. 9 Place of Residence. 9 Maternal Education. 9 Maternal Employment. 10 Religion. 11 Domestic Violence. 11 Maternal Status. 12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy. 13		Biological Determinants of Malnutrition	.7
Child Sex. .8 Birth Order. .8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition. .9 Family SES. .9 Place of Residence. .9 Maternal Education. .9 Maternal Employment. .10 Religion. .11 Domestic Violence. .11 Polygamy. .11 Maternal Status. .12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy. .13		Duration of Breastfeeding	7
Birth Order. .8 Social Determinants of Malnutrition. .9 Family SES. .9 Place of Residence. .9 Maternal Education. .9 Maternal Employment. .10 Religion. .11 Domestic Violence. .11 Polygamy. .11 Maternal Status. .12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy. .13		Child Sex	8
Social Determinants of Malnutrition		Birth Order	8
Family SES. .9 Place of Residence. .9 Maternal Education. .9 Maternal Employment. .10 Religion. .11 Domestic Violence. .11 Polygamy. .11 Maternal Status. .12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy. .13		Social Determinants of Malnutrition	.9
Place of Residence. .9 Maternal Education. .9 Maternal Employment. .10 Religion. .11 Domestic Violence. .11 Polygamy. .11 Maternal Status. .12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy. .13		Family SES	.9
Maternal Education .9 Maternal Employment .10 Religion .11 Domestic Violence .11 Polygamy .11 Maternal Status .12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy .13 Chill Maternal Autonomy .14		Place of Residence	.9
Maternal Employment. 10 Religion. 11 Domestic Violence. 11 Polygamy. 11 Maternal Status. 12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy. 13 Chill Maternal Autonomy. 14		Maternal Education	9
Religion. 11 Domestic Violence. 11 Polygamy. 11 Maternal Status. 12 Importance of Maternal Autonomy. 13 Chill Male statistic in Tanania 14		Maternal Employment	10
Domestic Violence		Religion	.11
Polygamy		Domestic Violence	.11
Maternal Status		Polygamy	11
Importance of Maternal Autonomy		Maternal Status	12
		Importance of Maternal Autonomy	13
Child Mainutrition in Tanzania14		Child Malnutrition in Tanzania	.14

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER III
Methods and Procedures16
Study Description16
Method of Analysis17
CHAPTER IV
Results
CHAPTER V
Discussion and Conclusion
Discussion
Limitations
Conclusion
REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Sample characteristics	22
Table 2. Bivariate analysis of autonomy variables by anthropometric measures	26
Table 3. Bivariate analysis of sociodemographic variables by anthropometric measures	27
Table 4. Weighted logistic regression results for height-for-age variable	29
Table 5. Weighted logistic regression results for weight-for-height variable	30
Table 6. Weighted logistic regression results for weight-for-age variable	31

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Causes of child malnutrition	7
Figure 2. Flow chart of sample selection	18

ABBREVIATIONS

AARR: Average Adjusted Annual Rate of Reduction DALY: Disability Adjusted Life-Year DHS: Demographic and Health Survey GDP: Gross Domestic Product HH: Household MDG: Millennium Development Goals NBS: National Bureau of Statistics SD: Standard Deviation SES: Socioeconomic Status SPSS: Statistical Package for the Social Sciences UNICEF: United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund USAID: United States Agency for International Development WHO: World Health Organization

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Background

Malnutrition is a problem which can be found in every country in the world, centering in poorer populations. Malnutrition is a double edged sword; not only does it delay growth development, but it also puts malnourished individuals at an increased risk of acquiring an infectious disease because their bodies cannot properly fight infection (UNICEF, 1998). This infection then contributes to even greater malnutrition because the body either doesn't desire food or cannot properly absorb the nutrients it needs (Madise *et al*, 1999). This is especially true in children in developing countries, where malnutrition contributes to over 50% of childhood deaths (Djazayeny, 2004; WHO, 2002).

There are numerous biological factors which influence a child's nutrition status: nutrition status of the mother during pregnancy, how many siblings the child has, the sex of the child, how long the child was breastfed, whether that breastfeeding was exclusive or not for the first six months, what foods the child was given during complementary feeding, etc. (Victora *et al*, 2008; Wamani *et al*, 2007; Black *et al*, 2008). Influencing these biological factors are socioeconomic ones, such as the wealth of the family, the household religion, the society's view of women, the educational status of the mother and father, and what occupations the mother and father have (Sunil, 2009; Kritz & Makinwa-Adebusoye, 1999; Smith *et al*, 2003; Mazur & Sanders, 1988). Thus, both biological and socioeconomic factors may influence child nutritional status. In fact, some researchers go so far as to say that child nutritional status until the age of seven is primarily influenced by environmental factors rather than cultural ones such as nationality or ethnicity (Johnston, 1991).

1

Researchers are currently studying other psychosocial factors which may impact child nutrition. One of these factors is maternal autonomy, defined as the level of independence in her actions and control over resources a mother has within her household. This study is further examining maternal autonomy as an influencing factor in child nutrition status. As several factors make up the level of autonomy, the factors this study examines to determine the level of autonomy include decision-making power, opinion of domestic abuse, and financial independence measured by control of money and assets owned. Socio-demographic covariates which will also be examined include age, sex, birth order, duration of breastfeeding of the child, mother's age, age at first birth, level of education, religion, occupation, number of other wives, household's wealth, place of residence, and number of household members.

Using data from Tanzania's Demographic and Heath Survey (DHS), this study will address the following research questions: (1) are independent maternal autonomy variables associated with child nutritional outcomes as measured by height-for-age, weight-for-height, and weight-for-age?, and (2) are these maternal autonomy variables associated with child nutritional outcomes when controlling for selected biological and socioeconomic covariates?

Hypotheses

Based on a review of the literature, it was hypothesized that there would be a positive correlation between maternal autonomy and child z-scores for all three anthropometric measures (height-for-age, weight-for-height, weight-for-age). It was also hypothesized that this would hold true even when controlling for confounding covariates such as child age, sex, birth order, and duration of breastfeeding, along with mothers' age, age at first birth, education, religion,

2

occupation, and number of other wives, and household position in the wealth index, place of residence, and number of members.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Public Health Significance of Malnutrition

Measuring child nutrition is indirectly measuring their living conditions—it reflects how much of an investment is being made in the future students and workers of a society (Simler, 2006). Especially among disadvantaged groups, child nutritional status is an indicator not only of health status but also intellectual and physical competence Because of this, it also serves as a predictor of future adult performance (Johnston, 1991).

The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that child malnutrition contributes to over 30% of under-five deaths from acute respiratory diseases, diarrhea, and other neo- or perinatal deaths (WHO, 2002). This is because malnutrition increases the risk of and duration of childhood illnesses such as tuberculosis, measles, diarrhea, and malaria via a decrease in cellular immunity (Huffman & Martin, 1994). It contributes to 21% of global death and disabilityadjusted life-years (DALYs) in children under five—the largest percentage for any risk factor in this age group (Black *et al*, 2008). Researchers have indicated that reducing the prevalence of malnutrition in developing countries is probably the most significant preventive measure we could take to reduce child mortality from acute respiratory infections and diarrheal diseases (UNICEF, 2009).

Children who are malnourished are at greater risk for impaired brain development and body function, which decreases their ability to accrue life skills, in turn reducing their chances at survival and productivity (Rajaram *et al*, 2007; Sunita & Jain, 2005; Victora *et al*, 2008). Wellnourished children are more likely to start school at an earlier age, repeat fewer grades in school, and will either enter the labor force earlier or will complete more years of school, or both, and can achieve as much as 46% higher earnings than their undernourished counterparts during work (Alderman *et al*, 2009; Hoddinott *et al*, 2008).

Nutrition is so important that the consequences of malnutrition can span three generations (Victora *et al*, 2008). Addressing it will help achieve at least three of the eight Millennium Development Goals (MDG) by reducing the proportion of people suffering from hunger (Goal 1), improving the number of children who are able to complete primary school (Goal 2), and reducing the under-five mortality rate (Goal 4) (United Nations, 2009).

Measurements of Malnutrition

The most widely accepted form of quantifying malnutrition is anthropometric measures; this is because changing body dimensions indicate the health of an individual or population. Anthropometric measures, when compared with an established standard, can be used to predict performance and survival. In addition, the methods used to collect anthropometric data are easy, inexpensive, and non-invasive. For children, the method most often used is to measure weight in kilograms, height in centimeters, and age in months. Combining two of these variables together creates an index. The indices used for quantifying malnutrition are height-for-age, weight-for-height, and weight-for-age; each index identifies a separate nutrition phenomenon. Low height-for-age (<-2 SD) when compared to a well-nourished child of the same age is an indicator for height (<-2 SD) compared to a healthy child of the same height indicates wasting, or too little body mass for height, which is a measurement of current or acute malnutrition. Low weight-for-age (<-2 SD) when compared to a child in good health of the same age is a combined

measurement of stunting and wasting called underweight (too little body mass for age). It is used to evaluate variation in the degree of malnutrition over time (Cogill, 2003).

In order to determine the severity of malnutrition indices are stated in terms of standard deviation units (SD), called Z-scores, from the median value of the international reference population (NBS, 2005). It should be remembered that ± 1 SD from the median value captures 68% of a population, ± 2 SD represents 95%, and ± 3 SD represents 99.7% (Gerstman, 2008). Therefore, the World Health Organization (WHO) has a cut-off for malnutrition indices of -2 SD. Indices that fall below -2 SD mean that a child shows moderate malnutrition and is considered stunted, wasted or underweight (NBS, 2005).

It should be noted that anthropometric measures are only able to identify the condition of malnutrition; they are not able to determine the source (Simon *et al*, 2002). Thus, the goal of researchers is to identify and determine the association of independent factors as they relate to malnutrition as quantified by these anthropometric measures.

Causes of Child Malnutrition

There have been numerous studies over the years researching what factors impact child malnutrition (see Figure 1). These factors can be classified into two categories: biological determinants and social ones. Biological determinants include such factors as duration of breastfeeding, child sex, and birth order, while social determinants include factors such as family socio-economic status (SES), place of residence, parental education, parental employment, and the status of women.

6



Figure 1. Causes of child malnutrition (Adapted from: Smith et al., 2003)

Biological Determinants of Nutrition

Duration of Breastfeeding

According to UNICEF, proper infant and young child feeding has the greatest impact on child survival, with the prospect of preventing 19 percent of under-five deaths (2009). However, Ukwuani & Suchindran's study in Nigeria showed that exclusive breastfeeding decreased wasting but could actually increase stunting prevalence if continued past 4-6 months (2003). Therefore, proper breastfeeding and introduction of nutrient-rich complementary foods at the correct time insures children receive the most nutrients possible for good growth; in fact, breastfed children are at least six times more likely to survive their early months of life than nonbreastfed ones (UNICEF, 2009).

Child Sex

There is an interesting trend in the association between child sex and nutritional status. In Asia, female children tend to be more malnourished than male (Saito *et al*, 1997; Ramli *et al*, 2009). Several studies have indicated a sub-Saharan African trend that female children are better nourished than male ones, though at least one showed the opposite (Madise *et al*, 1999; Wamani *et al.*, 2007; Hall *et al*, 2008; Lapidus *et al*, 2009). One study indicated that male children are biologically at greater risk of stunting, though the reason for this is unknown (Wamani *et al.*, 2007).

Birth Order

Regarding birth order, studies show that children with more siblings were more likely to be stunted than their siblings because of the increased competition for food (Mishra & Retherford, 2000; Ukwuani & Suchindran, 2003; Mazur & Sanders, 1988). There tends to be an inverse relationship between higher birth order and time spent in feeding care (Gupta, 1986). Behrman discovered an apparent parental bias towards their earlier-born children in India in regards to feeding practices, and Madharavan noted that children in South Africa who had more siblings and more older siblings were more likely to be undernourished than children with fewer siblings and fewer older siblings, even when controlling for age (Behrman, 1986; Madharavan & Townsend, 2007). In addition, more children means a larger family size in general, and large household size is an independent risk factor for child nutrition (Stinson, 1983).

8

Social Determinants of Nutrition

Family SES

It is well-known that family socioeconomic status (SES) contributes to child nutrition because families that have more money are better able to secure more food for their children to eat (Bairagi, 1983; Delpeuch *et al*, 1999; Levine, 1988; Skoufias, 1999). In one study, low SES was a significant risk factor for all three malnutrition indicators (Sunil, 2009), and several studies have shown that higher SES is a protective factor against stunting (Ukwuani & Suchindran, 2003; Uthman, 2009).

Place of Residence

Rural children tend to be at greater risk of malnutrition when compared to urban children (Kritz & Makinwa-Adebage, 1999; Mazur & Sanders, 1988; Rajaram *et al*, 2007). Where a family lives can contribute to child nutrition due to the fact that rural areas, while agricultural, may not have as much access to food as those in urban areas (Skoufias, 1999). There may also be a lack of access to nutritional and educational resources, and possibly even differences in child raising (Rajaram *et al*, 2007).

Maternal Education

Numerous studies have examined the effects of parental, particularly mother's, education on the nutritional status of children, in that greater parental education improves child nutrition (Skoufias, 1999). A study in India showed that, even when controlling for 12 possible confounding variables, greater maternal education is strongly correlated with decreased child stunting, wasting, and underweight (Mishra & Retherford, 2000). The reasons behind this effect include chances of better employment (thus improving the family SES), greater knowledge of the importance of a balanced diet and which foods are high in nutrients, and increased maternal status (Mishra & Retherford, 2000). In addition, educated mothers are reported to be more likely to take advantage of health services (Simon *et al*, 2002). As the level of mother's education increases, the prevalence of stunting, wasting, and underweight decreases (Delpeuch *et al*, 1999; Mazur & Sanders, 1988; Wenlock, 1979). And, while maternal knowledge of the causes of nutrition does not necessarily translate into improved feeding practices, it can increase maternal confidence and information sharing, which can have a ripple effect in the community and may later translate into changes in practices (Saito, *et al*, 1997, Hendrickson *et al*, 2002).

Maternal Employment

Maternal employment can affect child nutritional status in two basic ways. It can decrease the risk of malnutrition if it results in greater decision-making authority in the home and more money which can be spent on food and resources for child care (Kritz & Makinwa-Adebage, 1999; Ukwuani & Suchindran, 2003). Conversely, it can increase the risk of malnutrition if the mother has to work away from home, thus taking away from time she would spend taking care of her children and looking after their feeding (Ukwuani & Suchindran, 2003). Women who work are more likely to stop breastfeeding and use milk substitutes, and may have to leave their children to substitute caretakers (Ukwuani & Suchindran, 2003; Levine, 1988; Panter-Brick, 1992). Some studies have shown no difference between working and non-working mothers (Christian *et al*, 1989; Banji & Thimayamma, 2000). However, several studies have shown maternal employment as a protective factor in child nutrition (Mazur & Sanders, 1988; Kritz & Makinwa-Adebage, 1999; Ulijaszek & Leighton, 1998).

Religion

Religion can affect child nutritional outcome by influencing feeding practices. For example, families of the Muslim and Jewish faiths do not consume pork. In Nigeria, pregnant women refused to eat rabbit because it was local belief that doing so would result in a child with "kleptomaniacal tendencies" (Ebomoyi, 1988). Another study in Nigeria noted that being of the Christian faith was a protective factor against wasting (Ukwuani & Suchindran, 2003). Religion can also affect maternal authority—one Nigerian study showed that being Muslin decreased the amount of decision-making authority a woman had in her household (Kritz & Makinwa-Adebage, 1999).

Domestic Violence

Maternal experience of domestic violence can reduce nutritional status of women and their children in addition to decreasing their empowerment (Sethuraman *et al*, 2006). According to a study in India the chronic experience of domestic violence has a "dose-response" relationship, where frequent or recent abuse was associated with the highest probability of poor nutritional status. It was hypothesized that this was due to reducing a woman's ability to make decisions for herself and her family, including food decisions, and also psychological stress (Ackerson & Subramanian, 2008).

Polygamy

In an examination of polygamous households in Sub-Saharan African, Madhaven noted that the co-wives can live in one of two fashions: collaboration or competition. If the wives live in collaboration, their children may benefit from additional childcare. If the wives are in competition, there is a decrease in intervals between births—thus more children—and the children have decreased survival chances because there isn't that "reciprocity in childcare" (Madhaven, 2001). An ethnographic study of households in the Mount Kilimanjaro region observed that the favorite wife's children were often given better food, shelter, clothing, and education that the children of less favored wives (Howard & Millard, 1997). Quantitative studies have shown that polygamy decreases maternal authority, and at least one has noted that households with at least two wives are associated with increased wasting prevalence (Kritz & Makinwa-Adebage, 1999; Ukwuani & Suchindran, 2003).

Maternal Status

According to the 2002 International Food Policy Research Institute's report, "The Importance of Women's Status for Child Nutrition in Developing Countries," women's status affects child nutrition in three main ways: food security, caring practices for women and children, and quality of the health environment. The report measured maternal status by looking at two variables: societal gender equity, and women's decision–making power. Researchers determined that women's decision-making power had a significant, positive effect on height-forage, weight-for-height, and weight-for-age in Sub-Saharan Africa, while societal gender equality did not (Smith *et al*, 2003).

In addition, women's decision-making power has a stronger effect on child nutritional status in poorer household than in richer ones, because influencing decisions over the allocation of resources is more important when those resources are scarce in number (Smith *et al*, 2003). In addition, an ethnology study of Balinese culture highlighted the fact that "the ability to make decisions endows the decision-maker, man or woman, with a sense of independence and

command of his or her own destiny" (Jha, 2004). This independence in mothers may translate into improved child nutritional status.

Importance of Maternal Autonomy

More of the current studies are looking at the impact of maternal autonomy on child nutrition. This is because maternal autonomy, described in this study as how much control a mother has within her household to access resources and behave independently, determines how well a mother is able to act in a manner which best promotes the survival and growth of her children. According to Brunson *et al*, studying maternal autonomy is important for two main reasons—the first being that autonomy gives empowerment, which is a basic human right, and the second being that autonomy gives a perspective into theories of "parental investment." The premise for this is that it is in the best interest of males to produce as many children as they can ("offspring quantity") while it is in the best interest of females to invest in the children they currently have by taking care of them to the best of their ability ("offspring quality") (Brunson *et al*, 2009).

One study in India looked at the effect of maternal autonomy on stunting. Researchers in this study broke maternal autonomy into multiple independent parts—namely decision-making power, whether a mother needs to ask permission to leave the compound, who makes financial decisions in the family, and mother's attitude towards domestic violence (Shroff *et al*, 2009). As the study most closely resembles the questions of the current investigation, its study design was used as a template. While Shroff *et al* examined only stunting as a measure of long-term impact on child nutrition, this study investigates wasting and underweight as well, in order to examine both short- and long-term effects. In addition, Shroff *et al* considered some possible confounding

covariates, namely child age, sex, and birth order, mother's age, education, SES, place of residence, and religion. This study will control for the additional confounding covariates child's duration of breastfeeding (UNICEF, 2009), mother's age at first birth (Uthman, 2009), mother's occupation (Stinson, 1983), the number of other wives (Ukwuani & Suchindran, 2003), and number of household members (Pelto *et al*, 1991), since these were indicated as contributing variables as well.

Child Malnutrition in Tanzania

Tanzania is an East-African country bordered on one side by the Indian Ocean and surrounded by eight other countries. It is slightly larger than twice the size of California, and is home to more than 41 million people. Its infant mortality rate is 69.28 deaths per 1,000 live births, and its under-five mortality rate is 116 deaths per 1,000 children (World Factbook, 2010; UNICEF, 2007). The average number of children per mother is 4.46, and the growth rate is currently estimated at 2.04% (World Factbook, 2010). A primarily agricultural economy, it ranks 85 out of 226 countries in terms of gross domestic product (GDP).

Tanzania ranks 10th on the list of the top 24 countries for stunting prevalence with 44% of children (or approximately 3,359,000) suffering from moderate or severe stunting. Besides this, 3% of children are wasted and 17% of children are underweight. In addition, Tanzania has made insufficient progress in achieving MDG #1 (to halve the percent of the population that is suffering from hunger) with an average annual rate of reduction (AARR) less than 2.5 percent (UNICEF, 2009).

While child nutrition studies in Tanzania have focused on intervention strategies and constraints to good child-care practices, they have yet to look at maternal autonomy as an

influencing factor of child nutrition. Therefore, this study will add not only to the research of maternal autonomy but will also further the investigation of issues affecting child nutritional status in Tanzania. This in turn could lead to the discovery of new avenues of investigation for future nutrition interventions.

CHAPTER III

METHODS AND PROCEDURES

Study Description

This study is a secondary analysis of the Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) dataset for Tanzania from 2004-2005, this being the most recent DHS for that country. The DHS dataset is put out in a five-year cycle by the Measure DHS project, which has been conducting surveys in 84 countries since 1984 and which compiles representative data on topics such as maternal and child health, nutrition, family planning, malaria, HIV/AIDS, and more. The project is funded by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), along with donations from private people/industries and host countries, and is provided free of charge but by request.

The Demographic and Health Survey differs from other Measure DHS surveys in that the information it collects may be more broad than other surveys (i.e. Malaria Indicators Survey or Survey Provision Assessment Survey), but has a larger sample size (5,000-30,000 households) and thus may better represent a country statistically speaking. The DHS is composed of three core questionnaires: Household, which collects household information along with anthropometric measures and anemia status; Women's (for women 15-49), which collects individual information such as background characteristics, reproductive behavior, nutrition; and Men's (for men 15-59), which is similar to the women's questionnaire but is shorter.

For the anthropometric measures, children 60 months or younger and women interviewed were eligible for measurement. Weight was taken with UNICEF-approved scales and height was measured with measuring boards specifically designed for survey settings by Shorr Productions. Recumbent length was taken for children 24 months old or younger and standing height was taken for children 25 months to 60 months. From this information, Z-scores were tabulated for weight-for-height, height-for-age, and weight-for-age in order to show units of deviation from the mean as an indicator of malnutrition. A Z-score less than -2 standard deviations (SD) for height-for-age indicated stunting, for weight-for-height indicated wasting, and for weight-for-age indicated underweight. Having a Z-score of less than -3SD for any of these indicated severe wasting, stunting, or underweight (NBS, 2005).

Method of Analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out using SPSS v. 17.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL). DHS child, woman, and anthropometric datasets were merged and organized according to strata and primary sampling unit. Using the "sample weight" variable, cases were weighted to correct oversampling of subgroups and non-response bias. Matching variables between woman and child datasets reduced the sample from 10,329 to 8,564, and removing missing values for children who weren't measured for height, weight, or age reduced the number to 7,299. A final removal of missing variables for each of the independent variables gave a final sample size of 6,101 cases.



Figure 2. Flow chart of sample selection

The dependent variables for child nutritional status were height-for-age, weight-forheight, and weight-for-age. These variables were dichotomized into "not stunted" (Z-score greater than -2SD) and "stunted" (Z-score less than -2SD), "not wasted" (Z-score greater than -2SD) and "wasted" (Z-score less than -2SD), and "not underweight" (Z-score greater than -2SD) and "underweight" (Z-score less than -2SD), respectively.

The independent variables for maternal decision-making power include final say on (1) own healthcare, (2) making large household purchases, (3) making household purchases for daily needs, (4) visits to family or relatives, and (5) foods to be cooked each day. These variables were dichotomized into "respondent has no say" if one or more persons other than the interviewed

mother made the decision and "respondent has say" if the respondent had part (with spouse or household head) or sole decision-making power, and used separately in analysis.

The independent variable for attitude toward domestic violence was measured with responses to five questions. Respondents were asked to indicate whether wife beating was justified under the following circumstances: (1) she goes out without her husband, (2) she neglects the children, (3) she argues with her husband, (4) she refuses to have sex with her husband, or (5) she burns the food. Response options included "not justified" (0), "justified" (1), and "don't know." The "don't know" response was recoded to missing. Responses to the five items were scored ranging from zero to five. This resulting score was dichotomized again into "not justified under any circumstance" and "justified under at least one circumstance" in accordance with Shroff *et al.*'s methods. The reasoning behind this is that a woman who believes domestic violence is not justified under any circumstance has high autonomy while a woman who believes domestic violence is justified under at least one circumstance has low autonomy.

The independent variables for financial independence included two types: control of money, and ownership of assets. The control of money variables included monetary control for (1) perishable foods, (2) clothes, (3) medicine, and (4) toiletries. These variables were dichotomized into "no control" and "has control." The ownership of assets variables included if the mother owns (1) land, (2) the dwelling, (3) another dwelling elsewhere, (4) jewelry, and (5) livestock. These variables were dichotomized into "does not own" and "owns alone or jointly."

The covariates which could possibly confound the data included those related to the child, the mother, and the household (HH). Child variables included age, sex, duration of breastfeeding, and birth order (1, 2, 3, 4, 5+), while maternal variables included age, age at birth of first child, highest educational level (No education, Primary, Secondary, Tertiary or higher),

religion (Muslim, Catholic, Protestant, None), occupation (Not working, Professional, Agricultural, Service, and Manual Labor) and number of other wives. Household independent variables included family's position in the wealth index (Poorest, Poorer, Middle, Richer, Richest quintiles based on scores of weight household assets), type of place of residence (urban, rural), and number of HH members (DHS, 2002).

In SPSS, the complex samples package was used to account for weighting. Bivariate analysis with Chi-square statistics was performed to test the independence of distribution between independent variables. Bivariate analysis with Chi-square statistics was also performed for covariates to determine possible confounding. For covariates, if Chi-square statistics were significant for at least two of the three dependent anthropometric measures, they were selected for inclusion in the logistic regression model.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

After excluding respondents with missing values for any of the examined variables, the final sample population was 6,101 mothers who completed the DHS survey with most-recently born children under five years old who were measured anthropometrically. Table 1 presents the descriptive statistics for child, mother and household variables. Children's age ranged from 0-59 months with both sexes represented equally (male=50.2%), approximately half of children were 1st, 2nd, or 3rd births (54.8%), and almost 60% of children were breastfed between 13 and 24 months. The anthropometric measures show that stunting was most prevalent for children with 41.9% of all children in the sample having a height-for-age Z-score under -2 SD; wasting showed 4.2% of children had a weight-for-height Z-score less than -2 SD, and 16.4% of children were underweight, with a weight-for-age less than -2 SD. Looking at the mean Z-score for those children who are stunted, -2.953 SD falls close to the "severely" stunted classification of -3 SD. This indicates that not only does prolonged malnutrition have greater prevalence than acute malnutrition, but also that children who are stunted have a good chance of being severely stunted.

The majority of mothers were between 15-19 years of age at their first childbirth (61.7%), had achieved the primary education level (69%) and worked in the agricultural sector (79.8%). In addition, the majority of mothers were the only wife in their marriage (77.6%), and the distribution of religious beliefs was balanced. Looking at household characteristics, most fell within the poorest-middle classification range of the wealth index (65.9%), were located in rural areas (82.5%), and had between one and nine household members (83.5%).

Table 1. Sample characteristics

Characteristics	n	Moon (SF)
Anthronometric	n	Medii (SE)
Height-for-age 7-score	6101	-1 770 (0 033)
Weight-for-height Z-score	6101	-0.955 (0.028)
Weight for age Z-score	6101	0.090 (0.021)
Stunting	0101	0.090 (0.021)
<-2 SD height-for-age Z-score	2555 (41.9%)	-2 953 (0.05)
$>_2$ SD height-for-age Z-score	35/6	-2.955(0.05)
Wasting	5540	-0.057 (0.010)
<-2 SD weight-for-height 7-score	258 (4.2%)	-2733(0042)
>-2 SD weight-for-height Z-score	5843	-2.755(0.042) 0.112(0.014)
<u></u>	5045	0.112 (0.014)
<-2 SD weight-for-age Z-score	1001 (16.4%)	-2 658 (0.018)
~ 2 SD weight-for-age Z-score	5100	-2.050(0.010)
Childron's	5100	-0.005 (0.012) Percentage
A ge (months)		1 er centage
0-11	1422	23.4
12.23	1306	25.4
24 35	1254	21.4
24-55	1254	18.0
18 50	1058	17.0
40-37 Sov	1001	17.0
Mala	2070	50.2
Fomolo	3070	30.2 40.8
Pinth Order	3031	49.0
	1079	10/
1	1078	10.4
2	062	20.0
3	903 760	10.4
4	700 502	12.0
5	595 507	9.5
0	307	8.1 5.6
/	367	5.0 2.9
8	203	5.8
9+ Dynation of Droogtfooding	391	5.0
Name hunsetfed	105	2.1
Never bleastled	105	2.1
0-0 months	833	13.0
/-12 months	1088	18.1
13-18 months	1565	27.5
19-24 months	1990	29.8
25+ months	500	8.8
Mothers'		
Age (years)	259	1.(
15-19	258	4.6
20-24	1436	25.1
25-29	16/6	27.8

Table 1 continued

Characteristics	10	Dorcontago
Mothems?	п	rercentage
Age (years)	1259	22.7
30-34 25-20	1358	22.7
35-39	825	12.1
40-44	422	5.9
45-49	126	1.9
Age at first birth (years)		
8-14	200	3.2
15-19	3667	61.7
20-24	1888	29.7
25-29	302	4.7
30-35	44	0.8
Highest educational level		
No education	1736	26.9
Primary	3860	69.0
Secondary	431	3.1
Tertiary or more	74	1.0
Religion		
Muslim	2341	23.8
Catholic	1443	25.0
Protestant	1538	31 /
None	770	17.5
Occupation	119	17.5
Net meriline	071	0.6
Not working	8/1	9.6
Professional	162	2.1
Agriculture	4483	79.8
Services	34	0.7
Manual Labor	551	7.8
Number of other wives		
0	4752	77.6
1	1079	17.3
2+	270	5.2
Household variables		
Family wealth index		
Poorest	1331	22.9
Poorer	1237	21.2
Middle	1244	21.8
Richer	1358	19.7
Richest	931	14.4
Place of residence		
Urban	974	17.5
Rural	5127	82.5
Number of household members	5121	02.0
1_9	5167	83.5
10-19	817	13.8
20.20	01/ Q/	2.0
20-29	84 22	2.0
30+	55	0.7

Table 2 shows the unadjusted percentages of stunting, wasting, and underweight among the selected autonomy variables. Various independent variables showed significant difference between high and low autonomy groups, and those were selected for adjusted logistic regression. Among the decision-making variables, having a say in one's own healthcare was significantly protective against stunting and underweight, while having a say in making purchases for daily needs and what foods are to be cooked each day were significantly protective against wasting. Among the financial independence variables, having control of money for perishable foods was associated with both stunting and underweight, having control of money for clothes, medicine, and toiletries were associated with underweight, and single- or joint- ownership of land was associated with stunting and single- or joint- ownership of the family dwelling was associated with both stunting and underweight. Interestingly, the percentage of children being underweight was greater for mothers with single- or joint- ownership of the family dwelling (16.9%) than for mothers who did not have ownership (13.5%).

Bivariate association among socio-demographic factors and anthropometric measures are found in Table 3. While different socio-demographic variables were associated with various anthropometric measures, those variables which were significantly associated (p<0.05) with at least two of the three anthropometric measures were selected as covariates for the logistic regression model. These variables were child age, with lower rates of stunting and underweight among younger children and lower rates of wasting among older children; child sex, with lower rates of stunting and underweight among females; and duration of being breastfed, with lower rates of stunting, wasting and underweight for children breastfed for shorter periods of time. Mother's level of education and occupation were statistically significant, with rates of stunting and underweight decreasing with higher educational levels and the highest proportion of stunting and underweight among mothers who work in agriculture. Household's position in the wealth index and place of residence were significantly associated with stunting and underweight with rates decreasing from poorest to richest and urban households having lower percentages than rural ones.

Autonomy Variables	Dichotomized Categories	n	Height for Age		Weight for Height		Weight for Age	
			% Stunted	p-value	% Wasted	p-value	% Underweight	p-value
Decision-making power				•		•	8	A
Has final say on:								
Own healthcare	Respondent has say	3396	41.5	.008*	3.5	.983	14.6	.006*
	Respondent has no say	2705	45.7		3.4		17.6	
Making large household purchases	Respondent has say	1770	41.9	.283	2.7	.072	14.2	.062
	Respondent has no say	4331	43.9		3.8		16.6	
Making household purchases for	Respondent has say	2544	42.4	.339	2.7	.012*	14.7	.094
daily needs	Respondent has no say	3557	44.0		4.1		16.9	
Visits to family or relatives	Respondent has say	2962	43.8	.571	3.2	.373	15.7	.732
,	Respondent has no say	3139	42.8		3.7		16.0	
What foods are to be cooked each	Respondent has say	4734	43.2	.807	3.2	.043*	16.0	.754
day	Respondent has no say	1367	43.7		4.6		15.5	
Attitude towards domestic violence								
Respondent was asked if domestic	Not justified under any							
violence is justified under five	circumstance	2516	41.6	.145	3.2	.319	15.0	.247
circumstances	Justified under at least one							
	circumstance	3585	44.3		3.8		16.4	
Financial independence								
Has control of money for:								
Perishable foods	Has control	3666	41.7	.011*	3.2	.291	14.5	.004*
	No control	2435	45.9		3.8		18.0	
Clothes	Has control	3185	42.3	.249	3.6	.596	14.2	.002*
	No control	2916	44.2		3.3		17.4	
Medicine	Has control	3177	42.5	.314	3.1	.289	14.2	.004*
	No control	2924	44.1		3.8		17.6	
Toiletries	Has control	3667	42.6	.366	3.4	.683	14.7	.009*
	No control	2434	44.2		3.6		17.6	
Has ownership of assets:								
Land	Owns alone or jointly	3710	45.3	<.001*	3.3	.520	16.4	.245
	Does not own	2391	39.1		3.7		14.8	
Dwelling	Owns alone or jointly	3788	45.8	<.001*	3.5	.868	16.9	.005*
-	Does not own	2313	37.7		3.4		13.5	
Other dwelling	Owns alone or jointly	1650	43.0	.833	3.4	.808	15.7	.867
-	Does not own	4451	43.4		3.5		15.9	
Jewelry	Owns alone or jointly	1906	41.6	.127	3.5	.898	15.0	.332
-	Does not own	4195	44.0		3.4		16.2	
Livestock	Owns alone or jointly	2089	42.4	.452	3.5	.857	15.7	.842
	Does not own	4012	43.8		3.4		16.0	

Table 2. Bivariate analysis of autonomy variables by anthropometric measures

*Significant difference indicated by p<0.05, based on weighted chi-square statistics

$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & $
Children's Age (months) 0 1 1422 23.4 $<001^*$ 5.2 $<001^*$ 12.5 $.018^*$ 12-23 1306 45.5 4.9 16.0 2.5 17.2 36-47 1058 51.8 1.7 16.5 48-59 1061 46.0 2.2 18.0 Sex Male 3070 46.3 $<001^*$ 3.8 .195 17.5 .003* Female 3031 40.2 3.1 14.2 .003* Birth Order 1 1078 45.9 .080 4.0 .300 17.0 .180 2 1179 42.1 2.8 14.2 .180 .14.2 3 963 42.0 2.6 14.9 .14.7 .180 .17. .180 4 760 39.2 3.4 14.7 .180 .14.7 .180 .18.8 .14.7 .180 .18.7 .180 .18.7 .180
Age (months)0-11142223.4<001*
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
48-59106146.02.218.0Sex
SexNale 3070 46.3 $<001^*$ 3.8 $.195$ 17.5 $.003^*$ Female 3031 40.2 3.1 14.2 $.003^*$ Birth Order 1 1078 45.9 $.080$ 4.0 $.300$ 17.0 $.180$ 2 1179 42.1 2.8 14.2 $.14.2$ 3 963 42.0 2.6 14.9 4 760 39.2 3.4 14.7 5 593 44.4 4.9 18.8 6 507 41.1 3.6 13.5 7 367 49.3 2.7 17.6 8 263 40.6 1.1 18.5 $9+$ 391 48.4 5.0 18.7 Duration of Breastfeeding $Never breastfed$ 105 41.8 $<001*$ $0-6$ months 853 21.8 4.3 9.5 7.12 months 1088 33.1 5.3 15.6 13.18 months 1565 46.5 3.4 14.4 $19-24$ months 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+$ months 500 62.2 3.8 24.4 Mothers' 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 $25-29$ 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 1358 42.7 3.0 16.3 40.44 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
Male 3070 46.3 $<.001^*$ 3.8 $.195$ 17.5 $.003^*$ Female 3031 40.2 3.1 14.2 Birth Order 1 1078 45.9 $.080$ 4.0 $.300$ 17.0 $.180$ 2 1179 42.1 2.8 14.2 3 963 42.0 2.6 14.9 4 760 39.2 3.4 14.7 5 593 44.4 4.9 18.8 6 507 41.1 3.6 13.5 7 367 49.3 2.7 17.6 8 263 40.6 1.1 18.5 $9+$ 391 48.4 5.0 18.7 Duration of Breastfeeding 105 41.8 $<001*$ 2.5 Never breastfed 105 41.8 $<001*$ 9.5 $7-12$ months 1088 33.1 5.3 15.6 $13-18$ months 1565 46.5 3.4 14.4 $19-24$ months 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+$ months 500 62.2 3.8 24.4 Mothers' 156 36.4 $.008*$ 7.0 $.104$ 17.4 586 $20-24$ 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 $25-29$ 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 1358 42.0 3.9 16.3 $40-44$ 422 51.6 4.5 16.3
Female303140.23.114.2Birth Order 1 107845.9.0804.0.30017.0.1801107845.9.0804.0.30017.0.1802117942.12.814.2396342.02.614.9476039.23.414.7559344.44.918.8650741.13.613.5736749.32.717.6826340.61.118.59+39148.45.018.7Duration of Breastfeeding 0.6 0.1 16.4 Never breastfed10541.8 $<.001*$ 2.5 0.6moths85321.8 4.3 9.5 7-12 moths108833.1 5.3 15.613-18 moths156546.5 3.4 14.419-24 moths1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 25+ moths500 62.2 3.8 24.4 Mothers' $I55$ 36.4 $.008*$ 7.0 $.104$ 17.4 $.586$ 20-24143645.9 3.3 15.5 5.2 25-29167640.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 1358 42.7 3.0 16.3 $40-44$ 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
Birth Order11078 45.9 $.080$ 4.0 $.300$ 17.0 $.180$ 21179 42.1 2.8 14.2 3963 42.0 2.6 14.9 4760 39.2 3.4 14.7 5593 44.4 4.9 18.8 6507 41.1 3.6 13.5 7 367 49.3 2.7 17.6 8 263 40.6 1.1 18.5 $9+$ 391 48.4 5.0 18.7 Duration of Breastfeeding $Never breastfed$ 105 41.8 $<.001*$ $0-6$ months 853 21.8 4.3 9.5 $7-12$ months 1088 33.1 5.3 15.6 $13-18$ months 1565 46.5 3.4 14.4 $19-24$ months 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+$ months 500 62.2 3.8 24.4 Mothers' $4ge$ (years) 15.19 258 36.4 $.008*$ 7.0 $.104$ 17.4 $.586$ $20-24$ 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 25.29 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 1358 42.7 3.0 16.3 40.44 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
7 367 49.3 2.7 17.6 8 263 40.6 1.1 18.5 $9+$ 391 48.4 5.0 18.7 Duration of Breastfeeding 0.6 months 853 21.8 4.3 9.5 $7-12$ months 1088 33.1 5.3 15.6 $13-18$ months 1565 46.5 3.4 14.4 $19-24$ months 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+$ months 500 62.2 3.8 24.4 Mothers' 3.3 15.5 $20-24$ 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 $25-29$ 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 1358 42.7 3.0 16.0 $35-39$ 825 42.0 3.9 16.3 $40-44$ 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
826340.61.118.59+39148.45.018.7Duration of Breastfeeding 105 41.8<.001*2.5.001*16.4<.0001*0-6 months85321.84.39.59.59.59.59.59.59.57-12 months108833.15.315.613-18156546.53.414.419-24 months199050.82.017.625+99050.82.017.625+ months50062.23.824.49.5
9+ 391 48.4 5.0 18.7 Duration of BreastfeedingNever breastfed 105 41.8 $<.001*$ 2.5 $.001*$ 16.4 $<.0001*$ $0-6$ months 853 21.8 4.3 9.5 $.712$ months 1088 33.1 5.3 15.6 $13-18$ months 1565 46.5 3.4 14.4 $19-24$ months 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+$ months 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+$ 3.8 24.4 Mothers' $15-19$ 258 36.4 $.008*$ 7.0 $.104$ 17.4 $.586$ $20-24$ 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 $25-29$ 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 1358 42.7 3.0 16.3 $40-44$ 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
Duration of BreastfeedingDuration of BreastfeedingDuration of BreastfeedingDuration of BreastfeedingNever breastfed 105 41.8 $<.001*$ 2.5 $.001*$ 16.4 $<.0001*$ $0-6$ months 853 21.8 4.3 9.5 7.12 months 1088 33.1 5.3 15.6 $13-18$ months 1088 33.1 5.3 15.6 14.4 $19-24$ months 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+$ months 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+$ months 500 62.2 3.8 24.4 Mothers'Nothers'Nothers'Nothers'Nothers'Nothers'Nothers' $15-19$ 258 36.4 $.008*$ 7.0 $.104$ 17.4 $.586$ $20-24$ 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 $55-29$ 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 1358 42.7 3.0 16.0 $35-39$ 825 42.0 3.9 16.3 $40-44$ 422 51.6 4.5 18.4 14.6 14.6 14.6
Never breastfed 105 41.8 $<.001^*$ 2.5 $.001^*$ 16.4 $<.0001^*$ 0-6 months 853 21.8 4.3 9.5 7-12 months 1088 33.1 5.3 15.6 13-18 months 1565 46.5 3.4 14.4 19-24 months 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+$ months 500 62.2 3.8 24.4 Mothers'Age (years) $15-19$ 258 36.4 $.008^*$ 7.0 $.104$ 17.4 $.586$ $20-24$ 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 55 $25-29$ 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 1358 42.7 3.0 16.3 $40-44$ 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
1000 relative1001101001100110011001 $0-6$ months 853 21.8 4.3 9.5 $7-12$ months 1088 33.1 5.3 15.6 $13-18$ months 1565 46.5 3.4 14.4 $19-24$ months 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+$ months 500 62.2 3.8 24.4 Mothers' 258 36.4 $.008*$ 7.0 $.104$ 17.4 $.586$ $20-24$ 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 $25-29$ 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 1358 42.7 3.0 16.3 $35-39$ 825 42.0 3.9 16.3 $40-44$ 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
7-12 months 1088 33.1 5.3 15.6 $13-18 months$ 1565 46.5 3.4 14.4 $19-24 months$ 1990 50.8 2.0 17.6 $25+ months$ 500 62.2 3.8 24.4 Mothers' 258 36.4 $.008*$ 7.0 $.104$ 17.4 $.586$ $20-24$ 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 $25-29$ 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 1358 42.7 3.0 16.3 $35-39$ 825 42.0 3.9 16.3 $40-44$ 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
13-18 months156546.5 3.4 14.419-24 months199050.8 2.0 17.625+ months50062.2 3.8 24.4Mothers' 3.64 $.008*$ 7.0 $.104$ 17.4 $.586$ 20-24143645.9 3.3 15.525-29167640.8 3.0 14.7 $30-34$ 135842.7 3.0 16.0 $35-39$ 825 42.0 3.9 16.3 $40-44$ 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Mothers' 500 62.12 510 111 Age (years) 15-19 258 36.4 .008* 7.0 .104 17.4 .586 20-24 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 25-29 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 30-34 1358 42.7 3.0 16.0 35-39 825 42.0 3.9 16.3 40-44 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
Age (years) 15-19 258 36.4 .008* 7.0 .104 17.4 .586 20-24 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 25-29 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 30-34 1358 42.7 3.0 16.0 35-39 825 42.0 3.9 16.3 40-44 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
15-1925836.4.008*7.0.10417.4.58620-24143645.93.315.525-29167640.83.014.730-34135842.73.016.035-3982542.03.916.340-4442251.64.518.4
20-24 1436 45.9 3.3 15.5 25-29 1676 40.8 3.0 14.7 30-34 1358 42.7 3.0 16.0 35-39 825 42.0 3.9 16.3 40-44 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
30-34 1358 42.7 3.0 16.0 35-39 825 42.0 3.9 16.3 40-44 422 51.6 4.5 18.4
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
45-49 126 513 36 211
Age at first hirth (years) 120 31.5 5.0 21.1
8-14 200 38.2 681 3.3 440 13.7 650
15-19 3667 43.9 3.3 15.4
20-24 1888 43.1 3.5 16.3
25-29 302 394 57 189
30_{-35} 30_{-35}
Highest educational level
No education $1736 466 < 001* 43 108 197 001*$
Primary 3860 43.2 3.2 14.7
Secondary $431 272 26 116$
Tertiary or more 74 90 34 60
Religion
Muslim 2341 114 235 10 014 181 114
Catholic $1/1/3$ $1/3$
Californic 1445 45.5 5.2 10.0 Protestant 1538 A5 A 2.6 15.1
None 779 417 34 13.9

Table 3. Bivariate analysis of sociodemographic variables by anthropometric measures

Table 3 continued							
Characteristics	п	Height f	for Age	Weight for Height		Weight for	·Age
		%Stunted	p-value	%Wasted	p-value	%Underweight	p-value
Mothers'							
Occupation							
Not working	871	29.6	<.001*	4.8	.175	12.6	.001*
Professional	162	25.5		0.7		6.0	
Agriculture	4483	46.7		3.4		17.0	
Services	34	20.5		3.2		12.3	
Manual Labor	551	32.2		2.8		11.6	
Number of other wives							
0	4752	42.9	.514	3.5	.963	15.6	.592
1	1079	43.6		3.3		16.2	
2+	270	47.2		3.4		18.8	
Household variables							
Family wealth index							
Poorest	1331	48.6	<.001*	4.1	.204	19.3	<.001*
Poorer	1237	48.0		4.2		20.2	
Middle	1244	47.3		2.7		15.2	
Richer	1358	43.4		3.0		13.6	
Richest	931	21.6		3.0		8.0	
Place of residence							
Urban	974	32.5	<.001*	3.3	.744	11.3	.002*
Rural	5127	45.6		3.5		16.8	
Number of household members							
1-9	5167	44.8	<.001*	3.4	.692	16.5	.068
10-19	817	38.0		3.9		13.4	
20-29	84	24.4		2.2		10.2	
30+	33	15.6		4.2		4.2	

*Significant difference indicated by p<0.05, based on weighted chi-square statistics

Tables 4 through 6 present the results of logistic regression analysis for the dependent variables height-for-age, weight-for-height, and weight-for-age, respectively. Interestingly, after controlling for sociodemographic covariates, the only autonomy variable that remained significantly associated with any anthropometric dependent variable was "final say in own healthcare." According to the results, a mother having the final say in her own healthcare had a protective association with stunting in her child (OR=0.857, CI=0.749-0.980).

~ ~ ~ ~	Crude or	lds ratio (95% CI)	Adjusted odds ratio [‡] (95% CI)		
Has final say in own healthcare		× /	2	• • • /	
No say	1.0	-	1.0	-	
Has a say	0.876^{\dagger}	(0.771-0.996)	0.857^{\dagger}	(0.749 - 0.980)	
Has control of money for perishable foods		× /			
No control	1.0	-	1.0	-	
Has control	0.847^{\dagger}	(0.742 - 0.966)	0.946	(0.824 - 1.086)	
Has ownership of asset: land		()		()	
Doesn't own	1.0	-	1.0	-	
Owns alone or jointly	1.060	(0.874 - 1.286)	0.956	(0.770 - 1.186)	
Has ownership of asset: dwelling		()		()	
Doesn't own	1.0	-	1.0	-	
Owns alone or jointly	1.340^{\dagger}	(1.092 - 1.645)	1.074	(0.861 - 1.339)	
Child age in months	1.5 10	(1.0)2 1.015)	1.071	(0.001 1.557)	
0-11			1.0	_	
12_23			1.0 1.070 [†]	$(1.413_{-}2.770)$	
24.25			1.979 2.603 [†]	(1.413-2.770) (1.802.2.581)	
24-55			2.003	(1.695-5.561) (1.665, 2.156)	
48 50			2.292 1.720 [†]	(1.005-5.150)	
40-39 Child sow			1.730	(1.303-2.292)	
Unita sex			1.0		
			1.0	-	
Female			0.768	(0.684-0.862)	
Duration of breastfeeding in months			1.0		
Never breastfed			1.0	-	
0-6			0.698	(0.383 - 1.275)	
7-12			0.920	(0.509-1.666)	
13-18			1.118	(0.643-1.944)	
19-24			1.306	(0.745-2.291)	
25+			2.215 [†]	(1.257 - 3.904)	
Highest educational level					
No education			1.0	-	
Primary			1.048	(0.875-1.255)	
Secondary			0.886	(0.601 - 1.307)	
Tertiary or higher			0.313	(0.066 - 1.483)	
Respondent's occupation					
Not working			1.0	-	
Professional			1.502	(0.782 - 2.886)	
Agricultural			1.343 [†]	(1.053 - 1.713)	
Services			0.567	(0.178 - 1.804)	
Manual labor			1 084	(0.758-1.550)	
Family wealth index			1.001	(0.,00 1.000)	
Poorest			1.0	_	
Poorer			0.973	(0.794 - 1.193)	
Middle			0.939	$(0.772_{-1.1})$	
Richer			0.784^{\dagger}	$(0.772^{-1.142})$ (0.636.0.065)	
Richest			0.75 [†]	(0.030 - 0.303) $(0.201 \ 0.277)$	
Dlaga of residence			0.275	(0.201 - 0.577)	
Place of residence			1.0		
Kulal Urban			1.0	-	
UIUall			1.313	(0.988 - 1.732)	

Table 4. Weighted logistic regression results for height-for-age variable

[†] Statistical significance based on 95% confidence interval not crossing 1.0, ‡ Adjusted for child's age, sex, duration of breastfeeding, mother's education, occupation, and household's wealth and place of residence.

6	Crude of	dds ratio (95% CI)	Adjusted odds ratio: (95% CI)		
Has final say in daily purchases		(, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	j	* (*****)	
No say	1.0	-	1.0	-	
Has a sav	0.714	(0.509 - 1.002)	0.739	(0.527 - 1.037)	
Has final say in food to be cooked each day		()		(0002) 0000))	
No sav	1.0	-	1.0	-	
Has a say	0.795	(0.523 - 1.188)	0.811	(0.543 - 1.212)	
Child age in months		((
0-11			1.0	-	
12-23			1.017	(0.529 - 1.953)	
24-35			0.470^{\dagger}	(0.237-0.929)	
36-47			0.295^{\dagger}	(0.143 - 0.610)	
48-59			0.392 [†]	(0.178 - 0.863)	
Child sex				()	
Male			1.0	-	
Female			0 787	(0.573 - 1.081)	
Duration of breastfeeding in months			0.707	(0.070 1.001)	
Never breastfed			1.0	-	
0-6			1 562	(0.420-5.810)	
7-12			2 203	(0.644-7.538)	
13-18			1 763	(0.011 + 0.000)	
19-24			1 370	$(0.013 \ 0.032)$ (0.414-4.527)	
25+			3 731 [†]	(1.057-13.172)	
Highest educational level			5.751	(1.05 / 15.172)	
No education			1.0	_	
Primary			0.832	(0.589 - 1.174)	
Secondary			1.052	(0.303 1.171) (0.447-2.478)	
Tertiary or higher			1.022	(0.117 2.170) (0.153-6.922)	
Respondent's occupation			1.020	(0.155 0.922)	
Not working			1.0	_	
Professional			0.155 [†]	(0.050-0.485)	
Agricultural			0.683	(0.398-1.170)	
Services			0.969	(0.132-7.108)	
Manual labor			0.565	(0.132 - 7.100) (0.289 - 1.533)	
Family wealth index			0.005	$(0.20)^{-1.000}$	
Poorest			1.0	_	
Poorer			1.034	(0.696-1.536)	
Middle			0.668	(0.000 - 1.000)	
Richer			0.008	(0.410 - 1.090) (0.446 + 1.292)	
Richest			0.739	$(0.440^{-1.232})$ (0.320, 1.544)	
Place of residence			0.713	(0.527 - 1.544)	
Rural			1.0	_	
Turdan			0.730	-	
Ulball			0./39	(0.32/-1.03/)	

Table 5. Weighted logistic regression results for weight-for-height variable

[†] Statistical significance based on 95% confidence interval not crossing 1.0, ‡ Adjusted for child's age, sex, duration of breastfeeding, mother's education, occupation, and household's wealth and place of residence.

T 11 (TT 7 · 1 / 1	1	•	1.	C	• 1 /	C	• 1 1
Lable 6	W/elohted	logistic	regreggion	reculte	tor	weight_	tor_age	variable
	weighteu	logistic	regression	results	101	worgint-	-ioi-age	variable

Has final say in own healthcare I.0 I.0 <th< th=""><th></th><th>Crude odds</th><th>ratio (95% CI)</th><th>A diusted odds</th><th>ratio* (05% CI)</th></th<>		Crude odds	ratio (95% CI)	A diusted odds	ratio* (05% CI)
Instant asy in own learned in the sector of the sector	Has final say in own healthcare	Crude odds	Tatio (9570 CI)	Aujusicu odus	Tatio ₄ (9570 CI)
No say 1.0 - - 1.0 -	No sev	1.0		1.0	
nik stay 0.845 $(0.72+0.99)$ 0.805 $(0.72+0.39)$ 0.805 $(0.72+1.31)$ Nas control of money for perishable food 1.0 - 1.0 - No control 0.850 $(0.6443-1.123)$ 0.957 $(0.70+6.1298)$ Has control of money for redicine 0.0 - 1.0 - No control 0.0891 $(0.678-1.172)$ 0.845 $(0.63-1.124)$ Has control of money for medicine 0.0 - 1.0 - Nas control of money for toiletries - 1.0 - - Has control of money for toiletries - 1.0 - - Has control of money for toiletries - 1.0 - - Has control of money for toiletries - 1.0 - - Has control of money for toiletries - 1.0 - - Docsn't own 1.0 - 1.0 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - <td>NO Say</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>- (0.724.0.080)</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>- (0.722, 1.521)</td>	NO Say	1.0	- (0.724.0.080)	1.0	- (0.722, 1.521)
Has control or money for perishable lood 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control or money for clothes 0.850 (0.643-1.123) 0.957 (0.706-1.298) Has control or money for clothes 0.891 (0.678-1.172) 0.845 (0.636-1.124) Has control or money for medicine 1.0 - 1.0 - No control 0.915 (0.643-1.303) 0.913 (0.619-1.346) Has control or money for toiletries 0 - 1.0 - Has control or money for toiletries 0.0 - 1.0 - No control or money for toiletries 0.0 - 1.0 - Has control or money for toiletries 0.0 - 1.0 - No control agaset: dwelling 0.8051.453) 1.113 (0.809-1.533) Dessn't own 1.0 - 1.0 - 0.413 1.301' (1.083-1.564) 1.049 (0.864-1.272) Chid age in months 0.301 (0.614-1.347) 0.306 (0.673-1.392) 36-47 0.906 0.618 (0.293-1.300) (0.614-1.347)	Has a say	0.845	(0.724-0.989)	0.863	(0.732 - 1.531)
No control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control of money for clothes 0.850 (0.643-1.123) 0.957 (0.706-1.298) No control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control of money for medicine 0.891 (0.678-1.172) 0.845 (0.636-1.124) Has control of money for toiletries 0 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control of money for toiletries 0.915 (0.643-1.030) 0.013 (0.619-1.346) Has control of money for toiletries 0 - 1.0 - - Has control of money for toiletries 0.01 - 1.0 - - Has control of money for toiletries 1.081 (0.805-1.453) 1.049 (0.864-1.272) Child age in months 1.0 - 1.0 - - O-11 1.006 0 0.884 1.048(8) - 24-35 0.968 (0.673-1.322) 0.968 (0.674-1.428) Male 1.0 - - - <td>Has control of money for perishable food</td> <td>1.0</td> <td></td> <td>1.0</td> <td></td>	Has control of money for perishable food	1.0		1.0	
Has control of money for clothes 0.850 (0.643-1.123) 0.957 (0.706-1.298) Has control of money for clothes 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control of money for medicine 0.915 (0.678-1.172) 0.845 (0.636-1.124) Has control of money for medicine 0.915 (0.643-1.303) 0.913 (0.619-1.346) Has control of money for toiletries 1.0 - 1.0 - No control 1.0 - 1.0 - No control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control of money for toiletries 1.0 - 1.0 - No control 1.0 - 1.0 - - Has control of money for toiletries 1.0 - <td>No control</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>-</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>-</td>	No control	1.0	-	1.0	-
Has control of money for clothes No control	Has control	0.850	(0.643 - 1.123)	0.957	(0.706-1.298)
No control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control 0.638-11.22) 0.845 0.635-1.24) Has control 0.0915 (0.678-1.123) 0.913 (0.619-1.346) Has control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control of money for toiletries - 1.0 - No control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control of money for toiletries - 1.0 - No control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control or for toiletries - 1.0 - - Mas control for one for toiletries - 1.0 - - Mas control for one for toiletries - 1.0 -	Has control of money for clothes				
Has control of momey for medicine 0.891 (0.678-1.172) 0.845 (0.619-1.124) Nas control of momey for toiletries 0.915 (0.643-1.303) 0.913 (0.619-1.346) Has control of momey for toiletries 0.915 (0.630-1.63.3) 1.0 - Has control 1.0 - 1.0 - - Has control 1.0 - 1.0 - - Has control 1.081 (0.805-1.64) 1.01 - - Doesn't own 1.0 - 1.0 - <td< td=""><td>No control</td><td>1.0</td><td>-</td><td>1.0</td><td>-</td></td<>	No control	1.0	-	1.0	-
Has control of money for medicine No control of money for medicine No control of money for toiletries No control of money for model in the sources of the source of	Has control	0.891	(0.678 - 1.172)	0.845	(0.636-1.124)
No control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control 0.915 (0.643-1.303) 0.913 (0.619-1.346) Has control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control 1.081 (0.805-1.453) 1.113 (0.809-1.533) Has ownership of asset: dwelling - 1.0 - - Doesn' town 1.0 - 1.0 - Owns alone or jointly 1.301' (1.083-1.564) 1.049 (0.864-1.272) Child age in months - 1.0 - - - 0-11 - 1.0 - - - - 0-11 - 1.00 -	Has control of money for medicine				
Has control 0.915 (0.643-1.303) 0.913 (0.619-1.346) Has control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control of money for toiletries 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control of money for toiletries 1.0 0.809-1.453) 1.113 (0.809-1.533) Has control or on the control or on t	No control	1.0	-	1.0	-
Has control of money for toiletries No control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control 1.081 (0.805-1.453) 1.113 (0.809-1.533) Has ownership of aset: dwelling Doesn't own 1.0 - Owns alone or jointly 1.301" (1.083-1.564) 1.049 (0.864-1.272) Child age in months 0-11 0- 0-11 0- 1.0 - 1.0 (0.689-1.468) 36-47 0.9981 (0.674-1.322) 36-47 0.9910 (0.614-1.347) 36-47 0.9910 (0.614-1.347) 36-47 0.9910 (0.614-1.347) 36-47 0.9910 (0.614-1.347) 36-47 0.9910 (0.614-1.347) 1.0 - Female 0.981 (0.666-0.920) Duration of breastfeeding in months Never breastfed 0.10 - Female 0.10 - Primale 0.10 - Never breastfed 0.10 - 1.0 - Never breastfed 0.10 - 1.078 (0.558-2.085) 13-18 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 1.003 (0.710-1.289) 25+ No clucation 1.0 - Primary 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.040 - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.041 (0.535-1.959) Tertiary or higher 1.0 Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.041 (0.535-1.959) Tertiary or higher 1.0 Porest 1.074 (0.836-1.380) Middle 0.784 (0.518-1.380) Middle 0.784 (0.518-1.380) Middle 0.784 (0.518-1.380) Nicher 0.069 ^T (0.518-0.341) Nicher 1.00 - Prinaly (0.518-0.341) Prinaly (0.518-0.341) Nicher 1.00 - Prinaly (0.518-0.341) Nicher 1.00 - Prinaly (0.518-0.341) Nicher 1.00 - Prinaly (0.518-0.341) Niche	Has control	0.915	(0.643 - 1.303)	0.913	(0.619-1.346)
No control 1.0 - 1.0 - Has control 1.081 (0.805-1.453) 1.113 (0.809-1.533) Has control 1.0 - 1.04 - Owns alone or jointly 1.301" (1.083-1.564) 1.04 - O'T 1.301" (1.083-1.564) 1.04 - 0-11 1.301" (1.083-1.564) 1.06 - 12-23 1.006 (0.689-1.468) 24-35 0.9668 (0.673-1.392) 36-47 0.910 (0.614-1.347) 48-59 0.981 (0.666-0.920) Duration of breastfeeding in months 1.0 - - - Never breastfed 1.0 - - 0.6618 (0.293-1.300) 7-12 1.078 (0.558-2.085) 1.3-18 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 2.063" (1.064-3.998) 1.04 - No ducation 1.0 - - 1.032 (0.770-1.029) Secondary 1.0411 <	Has control of money for toiletries				
Has control 1.081 (0.805-1.453) 1.113 (0.809-1.533) Has ownership of asset: dwelling .0 - 1.0 - Owns alone or jointly 1.301 [†] (1.083-1.564) 1.049 (0.864-1.272) Ohlid age in months 1.0 - .0 - 0-11 1.01 .006 (0.689-1.468) .0653-1.392 24-35 0.968 (0.673-1.392) .0664 .0673-1.392 36-47 0.910 (0.614-1.347) .0664 .0614-1.428) Child sex .0 .0 - .0 .0 .0664 .0618 .0293-1.300 Duration of breastfeding in months .0	No control	1.0	-	1.0	-
Has ownership of asset: dwelling1.0-1.0-Doesn't own1.301 [†] (1.083-1.564)1.049(0.864-1.272)Child age in months1.00-111.2231.006(0.689-1.468)24.350.968(0.673-1.392)36.470.910(0.614-1.347)48-590.981(0.674-1.428)Child sex0.981(0.674-1.428)Male1.0-Female0.783 [†] (0.666-0.920)Duration of breastfeeding in months1.0-Never breastfed1.0-0-60.618(0.293-1.300)7-121.078(0.558-2.085)13-181.000(0.517-1.932)19-241.0303(0.710-2.389)25+2.063 [†] (1.064-3.998)Highest educational level1.0-No education1.0-Primary0.848(0.700-1.029)Secondary1.011(0.553-1.959)Tertiary or higher0.947(0.234-3.843)Respondent's occupation1.02(0.772-1.378)Services1.179(0.319-4.361)Manual labor1.013(0.647-1.587)Family weath index0.699 [‡] (0.518-0.944)Richer0.699 [‡] (0.518-0.944)Richer0.699 [‡] (0.518-0.944)Richer0.699 [‡] (0.518-0.944)Richer0.699 [‡] (0.518-0.944)Richer0.699 [‡] (0.247-1.531)Porerf<	Has control	1.081	(0.805 - 1.453)	1.113	(0.809-1.533)
Descrit own1.0-1.0-Owns alone or jointly 1.301^{\dagger} $(1.083-1.564)$ 1.049 $(0.864-1.272)$ Child age in months 1.00 -0-11 1.0 $0.689-1.468$ 24-35 0.968 $(0.673-1.392)$ 36-47 0.910 $(0.614+1.347)$ 48-59 0.981 $(0.674-1.428)$ Child sex 0.783^{\dagger} Male 1.0 -Female 0.783^{\dagger} $(0.666-0.920)$ Duration of breastfeeding in months 1.0 -Never breastfeed 0.618 $(0.293-1.300)$ 7-12 1.078 $(0.558-2.085)$ 13-18 1.000 $(0.517-1.932)$ 19-24 1.303 $(0.710-2.389)$ 25+ 2.063^{\dagger} $(1.064-3.998)$ Never breastfeed 1.0 -Not our claim of hyper 0.848 $(0.700-1.029)$ 25+ 0.947 $(0.233-1.83)$ 19-24 1.041 $(0.553-1.959)$ 25+ 0.6611 $(0.234-3.843)$ Respondent's occupation 1.01 $(0.553-1.959)$ Tertiary or higher 1.00 $-$ Professional 0.6611 $(0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Mindle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Services 1.074 $(0.581-1.058)$ Porest 1.074 $(0.581-1.058)$ Porest 1.074 $(0.581-1.058)$ Manual labor 1.032 $(0.772-1.378)$ Porest	Has ownership of asset: dwelling				
Owns alone or jointly 1.301^{\dagger} $(1.083-1.564)$ 1.049 $(0.864-1.272)$ Child age in months 1.0 $ 0-11$ 1.0 0 24.35 0.968 $(0.673-1.392)$ 36.47 0.910 $(0.614-1.347)$ 48.59 0.981 $(0.674-1.428)$ Child sex 1.0 $-$ Female 0.783^{\dagger} $(0.666-0.920)$ Duration of breastfeeding in months 1.0 $-$ Never breastfed 1.0 $ 0-6$ 0.618 $(0.293-1.300)$ $7-12$ 1.078 $(0.558-2.085)$ $13-18$ 1.000 $(0.517-1.932)$ $19-24$ 2.063^{\dagger} $(1.064-3.998)$ Highest educational level 1.0 $-$ No education 1.0 $-$ Primary 0.848 $(0.700-1.029)$ Secondary 1.0411 $(0.553-1.959)$ Tertiary or higher 0.6011 $0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 1.032 $(0.772-1.378)$ Services 1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor 1.0744 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699° $(0.518-0.944)$ Niddle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.382° $(0.244-0.588)$ Place of residence 1.0 $-$ Rural 1.02 $(0.27-1.531)$	Doesn't own	1.0	-	1.0	-
Child age in months 1.0 - 0-11 1.0 - 12-23 1.006 (0.689-1.468) 24-35 0.968 (0.673-1.392) 36-47 0.910 (0.614-1.347) 48-59 0.981 (0.674-1.428) Child sex - - Male 1.0 - Female 0.783* (0.666-0.920) Duration of breastfeeding in months - - Never breastfed 0.618 (0.293-1.300) 7-12 1.078 (0.558-2.085) 13-18 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 1.303 (0.710-2.389) 25+ 2.063* (1.064-3.998) Highest educational level - - No education 1.0 - Primary 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.0411 (0.5351-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.01 - Porocestional 0.601 <td>Owns alone or jointly</td> <td>1.301[†]</td> <td>(1.083 - 1.564)</td> <td>1.049</td> <td>(0.864 - 1.272)</td>	Owns alone or jointly	1.301 [†]	(1.083 - 1.564)	1.049	(0.864 - 1.272)
0-11 1.0 - 12-23 0.968 (0.689-1.468) 24-35 0.968 (0.673-1.392) 36-47 0.910 (0.614-1.347) 48-59 0.981 (0.674-1.428) Child sex - - Male 1.0 - Female 0.783 ⁺ (0.666-0.920) Duration of breastfeding in months 1.0 - Never breastfed 1.0 - 0-6 0.618 (0.293-1.300) 7-12 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 13-18 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 2.063 ⁺ (1.064-3.998) 25+ 2.063 ⁺ (1.064-3.998) 25+ 2.063 ⁺ (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultral 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.179 (0.319-4.361) Matual labor	Child age in months		. , ,		· · · · · ·
12-23 1.006 (0.689-1.468) 24-35 0.968 (0.673-1.392) 36-47 0.910 (0.614-1.347) 48-59 0.981 (0.674-1.428) Male 1.0 - Female 0.783 ⁺ (0.666-0.920) Duration of breastfeding in months 1.0 - Never breastfed 1.0 - 0-6 0.618 (0.293-1.300) 7-12 1.078 (0.558-2.085) 13-18 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 2.063 ⁺ (1.064-3.998) Highest educational level 1.0 - No education 1.0 - Not education 1.0 - Primary 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.0 - Porotestional 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultural 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services <td>0-11</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1.0</td> <td>-</td>	0-11			1.0	-
24.35 0.968 $(0.673-1.392)$ $36-47$ 0.910 $(0.614-1.347)$ 48.59 0.981 $(0.674-1.428)$ Child sex	12-23			1.006	(0.689 - 1.468)
36.47 0.910 $(0.614.1.347)$ 48.59 0.981 $(0.674.1.428)$ Child sex 0.981 $(0.674.1.428)$ Male 1.0 -Female 0.783^3 $(0.666-0.920)$ Duration of breastfeeding in months 0.618 $(0.293.1.300)$ Never breastfed 0.618 $(0.293.1.300)$ 7.12 1.078 $(0.558.2.085)$ 13.18 1.000 $(0.517.1.932)$ 19.24 2.063^3 $(1.064.3.998)$ Highest educational level 1.0 -No education 1.0 -Primary 0.848 $(0.700.1.029)$ Secondary 1.0411 $(0.553.1.959)$ Tertiary or higher 0.601 $0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 0.601 $(0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^3 $(0.518-0.944)$ Richer 0.699^3 $(0.518-0.944)$ Richer 0.382^3 $(0.244-0.598)$ Richer 0.382^4 $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.013 $0.581-1.058)$ Place of residence 1.02 -1.132 Rural 1.02 -1.132 Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	24-35			0.968	(0.673 - 1.392)
48-59 0.981 (0.674-1.428) Male 1.0 - Female 0.783 ³ (0.666-0.920) Duration of breastfeding in months 1.0 - Never breastfed 1.0 - 0-6 0.618 (0.293-1.300) 7-12 1.078 (0.558-2.085) 13-18 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 2.303 (0.710-2.389) 25+ 2.063 ³ (1.064.3.998) Highest educational level - - No education 1.0 - Primary 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultural 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.179 (0.319-4.361) Manual labor 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Family wealth index - - Poo	36-47			0 910	(0.614 - 1.347)
Child sex 1.0 - Male 1.0 - Female 0.783^+ $(0.666-0.920)$ Duration of breastfeeding in months 1.0 - Never breastfed 1.0 - 0-6 0.618 $(0.293-1.300)$ 7-12 1.078 $(0.558-2.085)$ 13-18 1.000 $(0.517-1.932)$ 19-24 1.303 $(0.710-2.389)$ 25+ 2.063 ⁺ $(1.064-3.998)$ Highest educational level 1.0 - No education 1.0 - Primary 0.848 $(0.700-1.029)$ Secondary 1.041 $(0.553-1.959)$ Tertiary or higher 0.947 $(0.234-3.843)$ Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.601 $(0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 1.032 $(0.772-1.378)$ Services 1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor 1.01 - Poorest 1.07 - Po	48-59			0.981	(0.674 - 1.428)
Male1.0-Female 0.783^+ $(0.666-0.920)$ Duration of breastfeding in monthsNever breastfed1.0-0-60.618 $(0.293-1.300)$ 7-121.078 $(0.558-2.085)$ 13-181.000 $(0.517-1.932)$ 19-242.063^+ $(1.064-3.998)$ Highest educational level-No education1.0-Primary0.848 $(0.700-1.029)$ Secondary1.041 $(0.553-1.599)$ Tertiary or higher0.947 $(0.234-3.843)$ Respondent's occupation1.0-Not working1.0-Professional0.601 $(0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural1.032 $(0.772-1.378)$ Services1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor1.01-Poorest1.0-Poorest1.0-Poorest0.699^+ $(0.518-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^+ $(0.518-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^+ $(0.518-1.369)$ Place of residence $ural$ 1.0 Rural 1.0 $-$ Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Child sex			0.901	(0.0711.120)
Inde 1.0 - Female 0.783 [†] (0.666-0.920) Duration of breastfeeding in months 1.0 - Never breastfed 1.0 - 0-6 0.618 (0.293-1.300) 7-12 1.078 (0.558-2.085) 13-18 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 2.063 [†] (1.064-3.998) Highest educational level 1.0 - No education 1.0 - Primary 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultural 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.179 (0.319-4.361) Manual labor 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Family wealth index - - Poorest 1.074 (0.836-1.380)	Male			1.0	_
Initial 0.763 0.703 0.703 Duration of breastfeeding in months	Female			0.783 [†]	$(0.666_{-}0.920)$
Never breastied 1.0 - 0-6 0.618 (0.293-1.300) 7-12 1.078 (0.558-2.085) 13-18 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 2.063 ⁺ (1.064-3.998) Highest educational level - No education 1.0 - Primary 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Agricultural 1.032 (0.647-1.587) Family wealth index 1.074 (0.836-1.380) Middle 0.784 (0.581-1.058) Richer 0.69 ^{of} (0.518-0.944) Richer 0.69 ^{of} (0.518-0.944) Richer 0.69 ^{of} (0.518-0.944) Richer 0.382 ⁺ (0.244-0.598) Place of residence 1.0 -<	Duration of breastfeeding in months			0.705	(0.000-0.920)
Note of dashed 1.0 - 0-6 0.618 (0.293-1.300) 7-12 1.078 (0.558-2.085) 13-18 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 2.063 ⁺ (1.064-3.998) 25+ 2.063 ⁺ (1.064-3.998) Highest educational level 1.0 - No education 1.0 - Primary 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultural 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.179 (0.319-4.361) Manual labor 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Family wealth index 1.01 - Poorest 1.0 - Poorest 0.74 (0.836-1.380) Middle 0.784 (0.581-1.058)	Never breastfed			1.0	_
0.00 0.013 (0.2351.300) 7-12 1.078 (0.538-2.085) 13-18 1.000 (0.517-1.932) 19-24 1.303 (0.710-2.389) 25+ 2.063 [†] (1.064-3.998) Highest educational level - - No education 1.0 - Primary 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation - - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultural 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.179 (0.319-4.361) Manual labor 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Family wealth index - - Poorest 1.0 - Poorest 0.784 (0.581-1.058) Richer 0.699 [†] (0.518-0.944) Richest 0.382 [†] (0.244-0.598)	0.6			0.618	(0.203, 1.300)
12 1076 $(0.592.08)$ $13-18$ 1.000 $(0.517-1.932)$ $19-24$ 1.303 $(0.710-2.389)$ $25+$ 2.063^{+} $(1.064-3.998)$ Highest educational level 1.0 $-$ No education 1.0 $-$ Primary 0.848 $(0.700-1.029)$ Secondary 1.041 $(0.553-1.959)$ Tertiary or higher 0.947 $(0.234-3.843)$ Respondent's occupation 1.0 $-$ Not working 1.0 $-$ Professional 0.601 $(0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 0.601 $(0.266-1.357)$ Services 1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index $-$ Poorest 1.0 $-$ Poorest 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{+} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{+} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence $ -$ Rural 1.0 $-$ Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	7 12			1.078	(0.293 - 1.300) (0.558 - 2.085)
$13-16$ $1,000$ $(0,517-1,532)$ $19-24$ $1,303$ $(0,710-2,389)$ $25+$ 2.063^{\dagger} $(1.064-3.998)$ Highest educational level 1.0 -No education 1.0 -Primary 0.848 $(0.700-1.029)$ Secondary 1.041 $(0.553-1.959)$ Tertiary or higher 0.947 $(0.234-3.843)$ Respondent's occupation 1.0 -Not working 1.0 -Professional 0.601 $(0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 1.032 $(0.772-1.378)$ Services 1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index 1.0 -Poorest 1.0 -Poorer 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 -Rural 1.0 $-$ Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	12 12			1.078	(0.538 - 2.085) (0.517 + 0.022)
1302 1.303 $(0.710-2.389)$ $25+$ 2.063^{\dagger} $(1.064-3.998)$ Highest educational level 1.0 -No education 1.0 -Primary 0.848 $(0.700-1.029)$ Secondary 1.041 $(0.553-1.959)$ Tertiary or higher 0.947 $(0.234-3.843)$ Respondent's occupation 1.0 -Not working 1.0 -Professional 0.601 $(0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 1.032 $(0.772-1.378)$ Services 1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.322^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 -Rural 1.0 -Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	10.24			1.000	(0.317-1.932) (0.710.2.380)
25+ 2.063 (1.064-3.998) Highest educational level 1.0 - No education 1.0 - Primary 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultural 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Manual labor 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Family wealth index 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Poorest 1.0 - Poorest 1.074 (0.836-1.380) Middle 0.784 (0.581-1.058) Richer 0.699 ⁺ (0.518-0.944) Richest 0.699 ⁺ (0.244-0.598) Place of residence 1.0 - Rural 1.0 - Urban 1.132 (0.837-1.531)	19-24			1.505	(0.710-2.369)
Indext education 1.0 - No education 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultural 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.179 (0.319-4.361) Manual labor 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Family wealth index 1.00 - Poorest 1.074 (0.836-1.380) Middle 0.784 (0.581-1.058) Richer 0.699 [†] (0.518-0.944) Richest 0.382 [†] (0.244-0.598) Place of residence 1.00 - Rural 1.00 - Rural 1.00 - Rural 1.00 - Urban 1.132 (0.837-1.531)	20+ High act a decetion of local			2.003	(1.004-3.998)
No education 1.0 - Primary 0.848 (0.700-1.029) Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultural 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.179 (0.319-4.361) Manual labor 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Family wealth index - - Poorest 1.0 - Poorest 1.074 (0.836-1.380) Middle 0.784 (0.581-1.058) Richer 0.699 [†] (0.518-0.944) Richest 0.699 [‡] (0.518-0.944) Place of residence - - Rural 1.0 - Urban 1.132 (0.837-1.531)	Highest educational level			1.0	
Primary 0.848 $(0.700-1.029)$ Secondary 1.041 $(0.553-1.959)$ Tertiary or higher 0.947 $(0.234-3.843)$ Respondent's occupation 1.0 $-$ Not working 1.0 $-$ Professional 0.601 $(0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 1.032 $(0.772-1.378)$ Services 1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index $-$ Poorest 1.0 $-$ Poorest 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence $ural$ 1.0 Rural 1.0 $-$ Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	No education			1.0	-
Secondary 1.041 (0.553-1.959) Tertiary or higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 1.0 - Professional 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultural 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.179 (0.319-4.361) Manual labor 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Family wealth index - - Poorest 1.0 - Poorest 1.074 (0.836-1.380) Middle 0.784 (0.581-1.058) Richer 0.699 [†] (0.518-0.944) Richest 0.382 [†] (0.244-0.598) Place of residence - - Rural 1.0 - Urban 1.132 (0.837-1.531)	Primary			0.848	(0.700-1.029)
Tertiary of higher 0.947 (0.234-3.843) Respondent's occupation .0	Secondary			1.041	(0.553-1.959)
Respondent's occupation 1.0 - Not working 0.601 (0.266-1.357) Agricultural 1.032 (0.772-1.378) Services 1.179 (0.319-4.361) Manual labor 1.013 (0.647-1.587) Family wealth index - - Poorest 1.0 - Poorer 1.074 (0.836-1.380) Middle 0.784 (0.581-1.058) Richer 0.699 [†] (0.518-0.944) Richest 0.382 [†] (0.244-0.598) Place of residence - - Rural 1.0 - Urban 1.132 (0.837-1.531)	l ertiary or higher			0.947	(0.234 - 3.843)
Not working 1.0 -Professional 0.601 $(0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 1.032 $(0.772-1.378)$ Services 1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index 1.0 -Poorest 1.0 -Poorer 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 -Rural 1.0 -Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Respondent's occupation				
Professional 0.601 $(0.266-1.357)$ Agricultural 1.032 $(0.772-1.378)$ Services 1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Poorest 1.0 $-$ Poorest 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 $-$ Rural 1.0 $-$ Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Not working			1.0	-
Agricultural 1.032 $(0.772-1.378)$ Services 1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Poorest 1.0 $-$ Poorer 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 $-$ Rural 1.0 $-$ Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Professional			0.601	(0.266-1.357)
Services 1.179 $(0.319-4.361)$ Manual labor 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Poorest 1.0 $-$ Poorer 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 $-$ Rural 1.0 $-$ Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Agricultural			1.032	(0.772-1.378)
Manual labor 1.013 $(0.647-1.587)$ Family wealth index 1.0 $-$ Poorest 1.0 $-$ Poorer 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 $-$ Rural 1.0 $-$ Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Services			1.179	(0.319-4.361)
Family wealth index1.0-Poorest 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 -Rural 1.0 -Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Manual labor			1.013	(0.647-1.587)
Poorest 1.0 -Poorer 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 -Rural 1.0 -Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Family wealth index				
Poorer 1.074 $(0.836-1.380)$ Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 -Rural 1.0 -Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Poorest			1.0	-
Middle 0.784 $(0.581-1.058)$ Richer 0.699^{\dagger} $(0.518-0.944)$ Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 -Rural 1.0 -Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Poorer			1.074	(0.836-1.380)
Richer 0.699 [†] (0.518-0.944) Richest 0.382 [†] (0.244-0.598) Place of residence 1.0 - Rural 1.0 - Urban 1.132 (0.837-1.531)	Middle			0.784	(0.581-1.058)
Richest 0.382^{\dagger} $(0.244-0.598)$ Place of residence 1.0 - Rural 1.0 - Urban 1.132 $(0.837-1.531)$	Richer			0.699^{\dagger}	(0.518-0.944)
Place of residence 1.0 - Rural 1.03 - Urban 1.132 (0.837-1.531)	Richest			0.382^{\dagger}	(0.244-0.598)
Rural1.0-Urban1.132(0.837-1.531)	Place of residence				× /
Urban 1.132 (0.837-1.531)	Rural			1.0	-
	Urban			1.132	(0.837-1.531)

[†] Statistical significance based on 95% confidence interval not crossing 1.0, ‡ Adjusted for child's age, sex, duration of breastfeeding, mother's education, occupation, and household's wealth and place of residence.

The socio-demographic covariates which maintained significant association with child stunting were child age (with older children having increased odds of stunting), child sex (being female had a protective effect), duration of breastfeeding (children breastfed for longer than two years show increased odds), mother's occupation (mothers in agriculture show increased odds), and family's position in the wealth index (richer and richest families have significantly decreased odds of stunting).

While no autonomy variable was significantly associated with weight-for-height or weight-for age variables, several sociodemographic variables were. Looking at weight-for-height, children between two and five years of age and children of mothers in professional occupations had decreased odds of wasting, while children breastfed for longer than two years had increased odds. Children who were female or who were in families in the richer or richest categories of the wealth index had decreased odds of being underweight, while children breastfed for longer than two years had increased had increased odds.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Discussion

The only autonomy variable showing significant association with child anthropometry was "final say in own healthcare." This autonomy variable was associated with child height-for-age after adjusting for other variables and was also associated with weight-for-age when unadjusted. This indicates that decision-making power regarding personal healthcare is important for a Tanzanian mother and may be associated with improved nutritional outcome for her children. By being able to make the decision to seek healthcare for herself, she may be better able to keep herself healthy, and in doing so, may be better able to take care of her children. This is consistent with other studies which have looked at access to healthcare as a predictor for child anthropometry. Alderman *et al*'s investigation of income growth and nutrition program interventions showed that access to healthcare is protective against stunting prevalence (Alderman *et al*, 2006). Additionally, Mazur and Sanders' study of Zimbabwean children showed that children born in modern medical facilities (clinics or hospitals) rather than at home were less likely to experience stunting, wasting, or underweight (1988).

Turning to the socio-demographic variables, odds of stunting increased with child age. This is because stunting is the result of prolonged malnutrition—therefore, the longer a child lives, the greater the odds that he or she is stunted (Simler, 2006). The odds for wasting decreased with child age if the child was older than 24 months; this is because wasting is a measure of acute malnutrition, and the older a child is, the greater the chance that the child can secure food for himself/herself within the household or elsewhere (i.e. school, or a neighboring compound). Studies have shown that there is a pattern to wasting in developing countries, where it decreases during the first 18 months, then increases to expected levels by 36 months, then remains relatively unchanged through 60 months of

age (Pelletier *et al*, 1991). In this study, odds ratios for wasting were increased—though not significantly so—between 12-23 months of age, then decreased after 24 months. The reasons for this trend are unclear.

Similar to other African studies, being a female child was associated with decreased odds of stunting and underweight. Several studies have indicated that in sub-Saharan Africa, female children are better nourished than male ones, while the opposite trend is observed in other parts of the globe (Ramli *et al*, 2009; Madise *et al*, 1999; Wamani *et al*, 2007). One study indicated that male children are biologically at greater risk of stunting, though the reason for this is unknown (Wamani *et al*, 2007).

Duration of breastfeeding longer than two years was associated with increased odds of stunting, wasting, and underweight. This is most likely because after two years, the nutritional stores in breast milk have been mostly depleted (Hopkins *et al*, 2007). Also, mothers who breastfeed their children for such a long period of time may do so because there is a lack of solid food for the children to eat and they are trying to compensate for the family's food insecurity.

Mother's occupation was associated with child anthropometry in two ways—mothers working in agriculture had children with increased odds of stunting, and mothers working in professional occupations had children with decreased odds of wasting. These results are most likely because agricultural work is extremely labor-intensive and time-consuming, thus reducing time spent addressing children's critical needs. In contrast, professional work requires more education and pays better than many other occupations. A study in Kenya also found that agricultural households had a higher prevalence of stunting than non-agricultural households in rural areas, while an investigation in Bolivia noted that children from merchant-professional families were "significantly taller, heavier, and fatter" than children from agricultural families (Haaga *et al*, 1986; Stinson, 1983). Living in a household in the richer and richest categories of the family wealth index was associated with decreased odds of stunting and underweight. Families in these categories have greater resources at their disposal; potentially mothers with more resources could use those resources to address child nutritional needs. One study noted a significant protective relationship between greater family landholding and nutritional status (Bairagi, 1983). Other studies have shown that higher SES is associated with decreases stunting prevalence (Ukwuani & Suchindran, 2003; Uthman, 2009).

Limitations

This study used a secondary dataset which, while vastly increasing the sample size, limited the availability of variables specifically associated with the research questions. The DHS is based on a questionnaire and uses self-reported information, which is subject to recall bias. In addition, the survey is cross-sectional, which allows for a snapshot of information at a moment in time but which can only establish association, not causality.

Other studies have looked at permission as an autonomy variable (Shroff *et al*, 2009). This study did not do so because looking at the DHS "can sell _____ without permission" questions would have constrained the sample to a much smaller size (only those mothers who owned assets), which would not have accurately represented the population. However, the adjusted financial independence variables were not significantly associated with child anthropometry.

This study did not look at sanitation or inadequate diet as covariates, though they are associated with malnutrition (Alderman *et al*, 2006; Madise *et al*, 1999; Mazur & Sanders, 1979; Sunil, 2009). It also did not look at infectious diseases such as malaria and HIV/AIDS, which are prevalent health issues in Tanzania as well as in many other developing countries. This study is only an initial glimpse at maternal autonomy as a protective factor in child nutrition in Tanzania. Further

studies should investigate the association of sanitation, diet, infectious diseases and maternal autonomy.

While this study found that "final say in own healthcare" is a significant factor in determining prolonged child nutritional outcome, it did not look at access to healthcare as a covariate. Further research should look at healthcare access in Tanzania.

Conclusion

"Final say in own healthcare" was the only maternal autonomy variable which was significantly associated with child anthropometry, indicating that decision-making power regarding own healthcare is an important factor that influences a mother's ability to meet the nutritional needs of her children. While other factors (sanitation, diet, disease prevalence) do play a role and need to be studied further, these results indicate that policy-makers and public health professionals may want to look into avenues by which maternal autonomy can be enhanced. Further research should be done to look at culturally-acceptable means of increasing awareness regarding the importance of maternal decision-making power for her healthcare.

While the current study indicates that maternal autonomy plays a role in child nutritional status, other literature suggests that maternal empowerment—similar to maternal autonomy—may not be enough to protect against child malnutrition. Education regarding proper feeding practices and societal access to resources all play a key role (Sethuraman *et al*, 2006). Investigations of interventions in Tanzania have shown that a combination of income growth and nutrition interventions have a positive impact on reducing child nutrition (Alderman *et al*, 2006). However, other studies have noted that improving the "underlying determinants" of malnutrition, including lack

of women's empowerment, are required to improve child nutrition in the long-term (Bhutta *et al*, 2008).

Suggestions for interventions include mother-to-mother support groups, community initiatives, and teaching nutrition and hygiene education not only to mothers, but also to substitute caregivers and those who influence their decisions (Cattaneo *et al*, 2008; Kulwa *et al*, 2006). Most importantly though, is to teach and reinforce mothers' awareness of themselves as "autonomous agents" who impact their children's health (Whyte & Kariuki, 1991). Public health professionals should look into increasing maternal autonomy in combination with community initiatives such as increasing access to healthcare, household nutrition education, and gender equality education as possible interventions to improve child nutritional status.

REFERENCES

- Ackerson, L, Subramanian, S. (2008). Domestic violence and chronic malnutrition among women and children in India. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, **167(10)**: 1188-1196
- Alderman, H., Hoogeveen, H., Rossi, M. (2006). Reducing child malnutrition in Tanzania: combined effects of income growth and program interventions. *Economics and Human Biology*, 4: 1-23
 -- (2009) Preschool nutrition and subsequent schooling attainment: longitudinal evidence from Tanzania. *Economic Development and Social Change*, 57(2): 239-260
- Bamji, M., Thimayamma, B. (2000) Impact of women's work on maternal and child nutrition. Ecology of Food and Nutrition, 39: 13-31
- Bairagi, R. (1983) Dynamics of child nutrition in rural Bangladesh. *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*,13: 173-178
- Behrman, J. (1988). Nutrition, health, birth order and seasonality: intrahousehold allocation among children in rural India. *Journal of Development Economics*, **28**: 43-62
- Bhutta, Z., Ahmen, T., Black, R., *et al.* (2008) What works? Interventions for maternal and child undernutrition and survival. *Lancet*, **371**: 417-440
- Black, R., Allen, L., Bhutta, Z., et al. (2008) Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. *Lancet*, **371**: 243-260
- Brunson, E., Shell-Duncan, B., Steele, M. (2009). Women's autonomy and its relationship to children's nutrition among the Rendille of Northern Kenya. *American Journal of Human Biology*, **21**: 55-64
- Caputo, A., Foraita, R., Klasen, *et al.* (2003) Undernutrition in Benin—an analysis based on graphical models. *Social Science & Medicine*, **56**: 1677-1691

- Cattaneo, A., Timmer, A., Bomestar, T. *et al.* (2008) Child nutrition in countries of the
 Commonwealth of Independent States: time to redirect strategies? *Public Health Nutrition*, 11(12): 1209-1219
- Christian, P., Abbi, R., Gujral, S., *et al.* (1989). Socioeconomic determinants of child nutritional status in rural and tribal India. *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*, **23**: 31-38
- Cogill, B. (2003). *Anthropometric Indicators Measurement Guide*. Food and Nutrition Technical Assistance Project, Academy for Educational Development, Washington, D.C.
- Delpeuch, F., Traissac, P., Martin-Prevel, Y., *et al.* (1999). Economic crisis and malnutrition:
 socioeconomic determinants of anthropometric status of preschool children and their mothers
 in an African urban area. *Public Health Nutrition*, 3(1): 39-47
- Demographic Health Survey. (2002). DHS and World Bank use wealth index to measure socioeconomic status. *DHS+ Dimensions*, **4**(**2**): 1-12
- Djazayery, A. (2004) Regional overview of maternal and child malnutrition: trends, interventions and outcomes. *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal*, **10**(6): 731-736
- Ebomoyi, E. (1988) Nutritional beliefs among rural Nigerian mothers, *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*, **22**: 43-52
- Fleuret, P., Fleuret, A. (1991). Social organization, resource management, and child nutrition in the Taita Hills, Kenya. *American Anthropologist*, **93**: 91-114
- Gerstman, B. (2008). *Basic Biostatistics: Statistics for Public Health Practice*. Jones & Bartlett Publishers. Sudbury: MA.
- Gupta, S. (1986). Birth order, feeding care, and effectiveness of health education. Hygie, 5(4): 10-13
- Haaga, J., Mason, J., Omoro, F. et al. (1986) Child malnutrition in rural Kenya: a geographic and agricultural classification. Ecology of Food and Nutrition, 18: 297-307

- Hall, A., Kassa, T., Demissie, T. *et al* (2008) National survey of health and nutrition of school children in Ethiopia. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, **13(12)**: 1518-1526
- Hendrickson, J., Deardan, K., Pachón, H. *et al.* (2002). Empowerment in rural Viet Nam: exploring changes in mothers and health volunteers in the context of an integrated nutrition project. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, 23(4):86-94
- Hoddinott, J., Maluccio, J., Behrman, J., *et al.* (2008) Effect of a nutrition intervention during early childhood on economic productivity in Guatemalan adults. *Lancet*, **371**: 411-416
- Hopkins, D., Emmett, P., Steer, C. *et al.* (2007) Infant feeding in the second 6 months of life related to iron status: an observational study. *Archives of Diseases in Childhood*, **92**: 850-854
- Howard, M., Millar, A. (1997) *Hunger and Shame: Child Malnutrition and Poverty on Mount Kilimanjaro*. Routledge, New York: NY.
- Huffman, S., Martin, L. (1994) Child nutrition, birth spacing, and child mortality. *Annals of the Academy of Sciences*, **709(1)**: 236-248
- Jha, N. (2004). Gender and decision making in Balinese agriculture. *American Ethnologist*, **31**(4): 552-572
- Johnston, F. (1991) Nutrition and growth of children in lesser developed countries. *Collegium Anthropologicum*, **15(1)**: 111-122
- Kabubo-Mariara, J., Ndenge, G., Mwabu, D. (2008) Determinants of children's nutritional status in
 Kenya: evidence from demographic and health surveys. *Journal of African Economies*, 18(3): 363-387
- Kritz, M., Makinwa-Adebusoye, P. (1999). Determinants of women's decision-making authority in Nigeria: the ethnic dimension. *Sociological Forum*, 14(3): 399-424

- Kulwa, K., Kinabo, L., Modest, B. (2006). Constraints on good child-care practices and nutritional status in urban Dar-es-Salaam, Tanzania. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, **27**(**3**): 236-244
- Lapidus, N., Minetti, A., Djibo, A. *et al* (2009) Mortality risk among children admitted in a largescale nutritional program in Niger, 2006. *PLoS ONE* **4**(1): e4313, 1-7
- Levine, N. (1988). Women's work and infant feeding: a case from rural Nepal. *Ethnology*, **27(3)**: 231-251
- Madhavan, S. (2001). Female relationships and demographic outcomes in sub-Saharan Africa. *Sociological Forum*, **16(3)**: 503-527
- Madhavan, S., Townsend, N. (2007). The social context of children's nutritional status in rural South Africa. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, **35(S69)**: 107-117
- Madise, N., Matthews, A., Margetts, B. (1999). Heterogeneity of child nutritional status between households: a comparison of six sub-Saharan African countries. *Population Studies*, 53(3): 331-343
- Masanja, H., de Savigny, D., Schellenberg, P. *et al.* (2008) Child survival gains in Tanzania: analysis of data from demographic and health surveys. *The Lancet*, **371**: 1276-1283
- Mazur, R., Sanders, D. (1988). Socioeconomic factors associated with child health and nutrition in peri-urban Zimbabwe. *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*, **22**: 19-34
- Mishra, V., Retherford, R. (2000) Women's education can improve child nutrition in India. *National family Health Survey Bulletin*, **15**: 1-4
- National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) of Tanzania and ORC Macro. (2005). *Tanzania Demographic* and Health Survey 2004-05. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: National Bureau of Statistics and ORC Macro.

- Panter-Brick, C. (1992) Women's work and child nutrition: the food intake of 0-4 year old children in rural Nepal. *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*, **29**: 11-24
- Pelletier, D., Low, J., Msukwa, L. (1991) Malawi maternal and child nutrition study: study design and anthropometric characteristics of children and adults. *American Journal of Human Biology*, **3**: 347-361
- Pelto, G., Urgello, J., Allen, L., *et al* (1991) Household size, food intake and anthropometric status of school-age children in a highland Mexican area. *Social Sciences & Medicine* 33(10): 1135-1140
- Rajaram, S., Zottarelli, L., Sunil, T. (2007) Individual, household, programme, and community effects on childhood malnutrition in India. *Maternal and Child Health*, **3**: 129-140
- Ramli, Agho, K. Inder, K., *et al.* (2009) Prevalence and risk factors for stunting and severe stunting among under-fives in North Maluku province of Indonesia. *BMC Pediatrics*, **9**: 64-73
- Saito, K., Korzenik, J., Jekel, J., et al. (1997) A case-control study of maternal knowledge of malnutrition and health-care-seeking attitudes in rural India. Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine, 70: 149-160.
- Sethuraman, K., Lansdown, R., Sullivan, K. (2006). Women's empowerment and domestic violence: The role of sociocultural determinants in maternal and child undernutrition in tribal and rural communities in South India. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, **27**(**2**): 128-143
- Shroff, M., Griffiths, P., Adair, L. *et al* (2009) Maternal autonomy is inversely related to child stunting in Andhra Pradesh, India. *Maternal and Child Nutrition*, **5**: 64-74
- Simler, K. (2006) Nutrition Mapping in Tanzania: An Exploratory Analysis. International Food Policy Research Institute. Washington, D.C.

- Simon, D., Adams, A., Madhavan, S. (2002) Women's social power, child malnutrition and poverty in Mali. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 34: 193-213
- Skoufias, E. (1999) Parental education and child nutrition in Indonesia. Bulletin of Indonesian Economic Studies, 35(1): 99-119
- Smith, L., Ramakrishnan, U., Ndiaye, A., et al. (2003) The Importance of Women's Status for Child Nutrition in Developing Countries. International Food Policy Research Institute. Washington, D.C.
- Stinson, S. (1983). Socioeconomic status and child growth in rural Bolivia. *Ecology of food and Nutrition*, **13**: 179-187
- Sunil, T. (2009). Effects of socio-economic and behavioural factors on childhood malnutrition in Yemen. *Maternal and Child Nutrition*, 5: 251-259
- Sunita, K., Jain, R. (2005) Assessment of nutritional status of school children from rural Bihar. *The Indian Journal of Nutrition and Dietetics*, **4**: 326-334
- Ukwuani, F., Suchindran, C. (2003). Implications of women's work for child nutritional status in sub-Saharan Africa: a case study of Nigeria. *Social Science and Medicine*, **56**: 2109-2121
- Ulijaszek, S., Leighton, D. (1998) Maternal employment and child nutritional status in a very poor population of residents and migrants from Bangladesh in Calcutta, India. *Anthropological Science*, **106(3)**: 253-263
- UNICEF. (1998). State of the World's Children—1998: Focus on Nutrition. Oxford University Press, New York: NY.
 - -- (2009). Tracking Progress on Child and Maternal Nutrition: A Survival and Development Priority. Oxford University, Press, New York: NY.

- United Nations. (2009) End Poverty by 2015: Millennium Development Goals. Accessed Feb. 2, 2010 from http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/
- Uthman, O. (2009). Using extended concentration and achievement indices to study socioeconomic inequality in chronic childhood malnutrition: the case of Nigeria. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, **8**: 22-29
- Victora, C., Adair, L., Fall, C., *et al.* (2008) Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. *Lancet*, **371**: 340-357
- Wamani, H., Astrom, A., Peterson, S., *et al.* (2007) Boys are more stunted than girls in Sub-Saharan Africa: a meta-analysis of 16 demographic and health surveys. *BMC Pediatrics* **7**: 17-26
- Wenlock, R. (1979). Social factors, nutrition and child mortality in a rural subsistence economy.*Ecology of Food and Nutrition*, 8: 227-240
- Whyte, S., Kariuki, P. (1991). Malnutrition and gender relations in western Kenya. *Health Transition Review*, **1(2)**: 1-16
- World Bank. (2006). *Repositioning Nutrition as Central to Development: A Strategy for Large-Scale Action.* The World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- World Factbook. (2010). *Tanzania*. Accessed February 15, 2010 from https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/tz.html
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2002). *The World Health Report—2002: Reducing Risks, Promoting Health Life*. The World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland